Question 4B:  Sample Only; No Model Answers

Question 4D:  Model #1: The easement, properly recorded, allows the owner and residents of the lots V-Z to go through Tumarkinacre.  Paul could first attack the scope of the easement as it is being used by Austin.  Paul could argue that it is not reasonable considering the term of the grant, that it was for access to individual residences and not to 16 cottages.  

Paul could also argue that this is not evolution of the use of the easement, it is a revolution.  The easement has gone from the use by V-Z, 5 people, to over 21 residences.  Austin could argue that there hasn't been substantial damage and that the purpose remains the same in providing access to these lots. 

Paul could also argue that he is burdened to a greater degree than originally intended.  His idyllic life has been shattered by the noise and pollution caused by the increased traffic.  Austin could try to diminish the impact of the increased traffic, saying that it is just a natural progression of things.  

Also Paul could try to prove that the purpose of the easement has gone away.  Although we don't have this on the record, the fact that there was a large construction crew could lead us to believe that roads were built.  

Also, Paul, by buying Walsh's interest in Zanzibar, can argue that the two properties have come into the same hands and therefore the easement is terminated.  This is tricky, since Paul does not have actual control of Zanzibar, Austin does.  

Paul could also argue that the easement was technically for the residents of V-Z, meaning the people who bought the lots.  Austin is a tenant of the original tenant Kelley, which makes him a sublessor or assignee.  Therefore, he shouldn't be allowed to use the easement.  It is a weak argument however.  

Paul could attack the transaction between Kelley and Austin.  Did the agreement between Walsh & Kelley have a consent provision as to subleasing or assigning?  If there was, there is no record of Kelley ever asking for consent.  However, Walsh & Paul knew what was going on,  Walsh by accepting direct payments and Paul by the increased traffic.  In some jurisdictions, can ratify if aware of transfer and do not do anything about it.  

Also, cts are very reluctant to stop free alienation of property, will interpret no transfer clauses very narrowly.  Paul might also have a problem if a std form was used for the lease, because cts want you to negotiate a no transfer clause.  

If there is a violation of consent requirement, cts are very reluctant to enjoin.  Will get damages, if lose any money.  Paul can only hope that there is a smoking gun in the lease that terminates if subleases without permission.  

The lease also calls into question whether it is an assignment or sublease.  An assignment is for the rest of the period of the original tenant, while a sublease the original tenant has right of reentry and makes it difficult for the landlord to sue sublessor (no privity).  The agreement calls for Austin to have rest of 5-yr. lease, yet treated as a month to month periodic tenancy.  If a periodic tenancy, a landlord can terminate if give notice.  If it is an assignment, Paul can sue Austin. 

However, if it is a sublease, problem of privity and Paul cannot reach Austin.  However, if landlord gets paid directly by sublessor or if in equity sublessor knows of condition, landlord allowed to get at sublessor in some jurisdictions.  Here, assuming payments will be made to Paul instead of Walsh, have an exception.  

Marie will try to enforce the provisions in the lease or in the contract that she signed as far as the maintenance of the sign is concerned.  It is not an easement since it requires an affirmative act.  So we look at the framework of covenants and servitudes.  

The restriction is that the sign will be maintained at a certain location and that it contain the provision concerning the name.  The promise is in the lease, clearly spelled out.  The intent seems to be lacking, as Kelley signed the lease but there is no mention of it passing to her heirs and assigns.  Horizontal privity, as required by some jurisdictions, though not restatement, is here since there is a landlord-tenant relationship.  Vertical privity is there on the burden side, since Austin takes for 5-year period that Kelley leased.  [If we hold that it is an assignment].  Could you argue that it is not the same, since Austin takes 5 year's minus 1 month?  Tough argument, but a possibility.  Does it touch and concern the land?  Using Bigelow/Clark test, focus on economics.  If promisor's legal interest is rendered less valuable, touches and concerns.  Here, tough arguments sign with name on it does not seem to hurt value, yet could take overall value of aesthetic community.  

Question of notice, Austin put on notice if saw other cottages with same deal.  However, what if cottages very far apart, and didn't see them.  Is original Zanzibar sign enough to put him on notice?  If cottages visible, have a common scheme situation, puts you on notice.

Tough call on the sign requirement, would depend on facts.  If find covenant, can only get damages.  If an equitable servitude, can enjoin.  The 3rd Restatement does away with these distinctions.  

As far as Marie's claim to Austin violating the residence requirement, it would be helpful to look at the case of Snow v. Van Dam.  The ct ruled that once there is a common scheme, earlier owners can sue also.  Third party beneficiary theory that promise held for benefit of all 3rd parties.

With this in mind, lease signed by Kelley did not have clause on residences.  [MF: incorrect; it did]  Was notice of a common scheme present so as to put Austin on the lookout?  Also, what common scheme, if Walsh, the developer, took the clause out so as to attract people to lease the premises.  Yet, in a reciprocal negative easement, once 1st promise and get scheme, it becomes reciprocal.  This depends on the jurisdiction, as some will not allow implied equitable servitudes as being against statute of frauds.  

As far as the other criteria for covenants or equitable servitudes, the restriction does touch and concern the land as it effects an economic interest.  The promise and intent are also shaky, as the clause was taken out for the lease agreement.  It all rides on the common scheme scenario and whether Austin is bound by something that is not in the lease agreement.  

It seems that if it was taken out of the agreement by the developer, one would have to show that a common scheme is present and Austin is the one oddball out of the area.  

Question 4D:  Model #2:  Walsh easement on Tumarkinarce from Paul:   must evaluate.  Since the facts indicate that this was an appurtenant easement by grant which has followed all the deed formalities.  Therefore we must examine if Austin's use is reasonable considering the grant?  Austin states access was intent, no limit in grant that says 16 time use is unreasonable.  Paul will argue that he bargain for 5 residents (looks at plan) and not 20 residents.  It is unfair to construe ambiguity against him.

Paul will argue that change from 5 residential units to 16 seasonal units is a revolutionary change and not an evolutionary change because of it was large leap and not a gradual increase.  Finally, Paul will argue that 16 seasonal residences creates a greater burden than contemplated by himself & Walsh.  At time of grant neither he nor Walsh intended seasonal cottage.  Austin will argue that Paul saw construction of cottages, knew of restriction yet did nothing to stop him.  Therefore Paul is estopped for pleading overuse.  Austin will also argue that 16 seasonal units does not create that much more traffic that 1 year unit (note length of season is unknown, probably to 2-4 mos.).  Given the above, I believe that Austin will be enoined from overuse of Easement.

Paul may argue that Easement was terminated because both properties came into his hands. However, this rule is complicated because Austin is a sublessee and lease gives the original tenant the right of possession.  Does the lease prevent termination of Easement?  If Austin lease is valid (arguably even if its not Walsh's acceptance of payment makes it valid), the lease should prevent the merger of the two interest Tumarkin owns and thereby preserve the easement until original lease is over.

Secondly Paul could argue that Austin's use of the property for non-residential structures is a violation of cove-nant (3) of Kelly's lease with Walsh which states that the "Tenant agrees to use the property for residential purposes only.  To test to see if this is a covenant or equitable servitude see 7 step analysis: 

1)  Restriction at issue - Residences only;  

2)  Was there a promise? - in K from Kelly to Walsh;  

3)  intent to bind successors - K doesn't use assigns and heirs language, but reasonable to conclude parties meant to run to successors.  Therefore, successor language should be implied.  

4)  is there horizontal & vertical privity?  This easement was not done in connection with a land sale, therefore no hori-zontal privity in many juris.  [MF: incorrect:  landlord-tenant relationship provides horizontal privity]  However 3rd Restatement does not require Horizontal Privity at all.  

Vertical Privity - since we are trying to bind Austin, we must determine if Austin received same Estate as Kelley.  Facts state Austin is basically taking over Kelly lease (i.e. Assignment) therefore same Estate.  However, Facts also say "but why don't we treat it like a mo. to mo tenan-cy" which would be a sub-lease and not same Estate.  Since Paul presumably received a Fee Simple from Walsh, Vertical Privity is not an issue.  

5) Does that benefit and burden touch & concern the property.  Since presumably Walsh build a road on Paul's property the Burden touches and Concerns.  Under Bigelow-Clark clearly Walsh property is more valuable because of Easement, therefore it touches & concerns under this test.  Note Bigelow-Clark is not universal; therefore property may not touch & concern in all juris.  [MF: this is muddy: need to analyze effect of residences rather than of easement]

6)  Is there notice?  Yes, Notice was in the lease.  If lease notice to Austin not sufficient, Austin has constructive notice from Neighborhood.  Therefore, if K has Intent, Privity of Estate, Touch & Concerns Property and Notice it is a Real Covenant.  If Real Covenant can get damages, it appears Paul really wants an injunction.  If K has Intent, Touch & Concerns and Notice than Paul his Equitable Servitude and may get an injunction.

Marie claims that Walsh violated an implied covenant that runs with the land  1)  Restriction at issue?  exclusive name use;  2)  Promise?  implies promise each of 26 parcels have different alphabetic letter at beginning;  3)  Intent to bind succession; implied w/promise;  4)  Privity - horizontal, implied in connection with Land Sale, vertical (1) - Marie receive a Fee Simple, Vertical (2)  See discussion Kelly & Austin vertical privity previously discussed, 5)  Notice - Constructive notice by neighborhood;  6)  Touch & Concern: Realistically this problem does not touch and concern the land, nothing makes property more or less valu-able under Clark-Bigelow, no building on improvements.  Therefore, w/o Touch & Concern can't have covenant or Equitable servitude running w/ Land.

Marie's concern about Austin non-residential land use:   Marie can show that Kelly made promise to conform.  That this residential plan was a master plan.  And that even though Walsh dropped this requirement from the other lots, the promise was in Kelley's lease and Marie has standing to challenge Austin's non-conformity with Kelley's lease.  Even if Marie did not have standing, Marie still would have a snow v van Dam type of case.

Please note, that even though Austin's sublease may de-stroy privity, but Paul as Landlord has other means to reach Austin.  If Austin as sublessee had notice of condition in original lease (please note facts don't establish whether Austin had actual notice), equity will compel his perfor-mance.  Also under certain circumstance Paul may be a 3rd party beneficiary of Kelley's contract with Austin; since as landlord he is receiving payments.  As a 3rd party bene-ficiary Paul may be able to sue for enforcement.

Question 4E: Comments:  The answers to this question were very solid.  You ave-raged about 50 checks per bluebook, although I suspect from looking at some of the scores that some of you spent too much time on the question.  Those of you who didn't do as well as others made the common mistakes on issue-spotting questions: listing tests without applying them, jumping to conclusions without referring to the facts and only arguing one side.  The model answers, which received about 109 checks each, are very well-structured and cleverly analyze the problem.

Question 4E: Model #1:  There are essentially two property-related components to R's rights vis a vis H (driveway easement and covenant/ servitude re: use of bandshell), and one component grounded in tort (nuisance from use of bandshell).  Each will be discussed in turn.  

Easement:  When Doris split her property interests in 1961, she apparently reserved an easement to cross G's pro-perty via the driveway to the North Road.  Facts don't indi-cate whether D recorded the easement; assume she didn't.  Therefore, easement must be implied.  Appears to be an ease-ment by implication (Van Sandt) -- reasonable that D & G intended D's continued use of the already-existing driveway.  

Separate Q - what term did parties intend?  Unclear from facts -- R might argue that term conditioned by alter-native routes of ingress-egress, or by some other stipula-tion made by D & G.  Problems of proof, however, were no-thing recorded ... 

R can argue easement was only by necessity:  when D->G, driveway was apparently only access to public road.  From this assumption, R can go two ways:  easement wasn't neces-sary enough (D still owned land with access to South Road), or even if necessary at the time, no longer necessary since government easement grants H (G's grantee) access to the South.  But according to Van Sandt, necessity is not a re-quirement of easements by implication and so, easement may continue even after necessity ends.  Still, b/c courts not overly fond of implied reserve easements, some combination of those arguments may work ... 

If H thinks he is "losing ground," he might counter with other arguments, e.g. easement by estoppel or prescrip-tion.  Estoppel argument based on fact that H used easement to construct new amphitheater -- at great cost and with ex-pectations of carrying on concerts there.  Because R had no-tice (actual -- tough to miss a big amphitheater in your backyard; constructive -- duty to inquire what all the con-struction was about), R can't argue now that he will cut off access to the amphitheater.  But, R counters that reason for reliance is over:  If H relied on to build, ok, it's built.  If H relied on for access, now available from South Road across government land.  Where H still has easy access, ought to show damages resulting from closing down the north driveway.  R might finally try using easement by prescrip-tion against H -- but facts are shaky.  Even if interrup-tion, long enough?  

Finally R can argue that the easement was abandoned when not used for the period between when H bought it and finally occupied.  Tough standard, though:  no indications that H or G ever told R (or D) unequivocally of any inten-tion to stop using the driveway.  Absent this type of noti-fication, easement not terminated by mere lack of use.  

If R fails to defend the easement altogether, he can attack the current use to which H is putting the North driveway.  NO express limitations on the original grant be-cause it was implied.  Therefore, court must look to what parties intended.  Seems clear that D intended to use the driveway to give guests access to her summer concerts; rea-sonable to assert that G acquiesced in this intended use until her breakdown.  

Two possible avenues of attack for R:  1967 agreement re: no more concerts effectively modified any intended use from the original implied easement -- evidentiary of new party intention?  But if so, a modification in gross (bene-fit to G only, considering her physical condition) that doesn't run with the appertenant easement?  Good work if you can get it.  

Second attack:  even if current use is similar to in-tended use ("guests" to "concerts") what about the degree of change inherent in H's plans?  G's uses sounded like picnics for friends (although inclusion of "famous people" may indi-cate more); H's use sounds like a Woodstock revival.  Sounds more like revolution than evolution, even if Joan Baez isn't there.  Related:  was there any evolutionary development of G's original use intended at all?  Unlike changes in techno-logy not forseeable, changes in scope of use are.  Unlikely that D ever expected the pleasant summer fetes to turn into commercial concerts 8 months of the year.  Inconsistent with use of property where easement was inside.  R may prevail on limiting H's use of the easement to some narrow purpose that doesn't accommodate concert traffic.

Servitudes:  The agreement by D & G in 1967 can be characterized as a negative easement, a real covenant or an equitable servi-tude.  Probably not an easement because D (burdened party) not required to do anything; further, looks more personal than property.  Also has K characteristics (promise to stop concerts in return for valuable consideration).  

R must argue that the original agreement runs with the land to prevail against H.  The restriction = no summer con-certs, because of noise they create.  R argues purpose (no noise); H counters with "summer only."  A stretch, but maybe effective where concerts = 8 months in year -- especially if this is summer resort territory (no one likely to be bo-thered in other months?).  

The promise itself is evidenced by a writing -- with apparent intent to bind future Grantees (heirs, assigns, etc.).  But is this pure legalese, conditioned perhaps by the knowledge that the promise was based on G's physical condition?  Any intent to go beyond G's life or (optimisti-cally) recovery?  If the former, Grantees may be bound; if the latter, the servitude may only extend to G (the original Promisee) and not run with the land.

Privity is a further point of contention; depends on rules of this jurisdiction whether there is horizontal pri-vity where D was Grantor and G was Grantee -- but no Land-lord/Tenant relationship.  Verbal privity looks ok on bene-fit side (Knightacre devised in one piece) but on burden side -- (no, never mind; South 1/3 -> government before servitude entered into).  Vertical privity ok.  

H may also have been on notice as to some restriction on the bandshell -- H's agent C noticed disrepair when H bought.  But C did inquire (of whom?) and was simply told shell "hadn't been used in a while."  What duty for further inquiry?  H may lose if servitude was recorded; otherwise, reasonable to think that disuse unrelated to any restriction -- coupled with H's inquiry, put H in position of BFP with-out notice -- taking free of the servitude?

Touch and Concern:  This may be H's best argument -- servitude was in gross, i.e. purely for G's personal benefit (in light of her infirmity) and not really touching/concern-ing B/R's land.  R's counter - noise and traffic = decreased property value (especially if this is summer resort territo-ry:  who wants to "escape" to a 3-month-long rock concert?).  Because of writing, looks like covenant if privity require-ments ok in this jurisdiction; but R probably doesn't want money damages.  Better for him to concentrate on the notice/ duty to inquire side and seek injunction in equity.

Nuisance:  Even if H prevails on both the easement and the servi-tude questions, R might still have a cause of action for nuisance.  Note lack of substantial physical invasion (noise, not soot, wires, etc), but definite detriment to R's use and [quiet] enjoyment of noise is real loud.  (If noise not real loud, court might dismiss because K is a whining X...).  R can counter with litter, dust/exhaust fumes from traffic, cumulative (even if minor and inadvertent) tres-passes to his property.  Not unlikely scenario for rock con-certs.  

Threshold Q - is R's conduct a nuisance at all?  Defi-nitely intentional behavior (even if not negligent); Q may turn on reasonableness and forseeability of R's expectations (Morgan).  If nuisance, court may undertake balancing test on either of two levels:  degree of interference to  R v. "public harm if H is estopped" (Estancias) or a more econo-mics-oriented balancing -- Cost of doing to R v. cost to H of stopping (includes costs to society at large?).  R will argue whatever diminution to his property value (tough evi-dentiary issue; fair market value? cost of fences, noise barriers?).  H will counter with lost revenues from concerts and loss of proceeds to help environment.  R should argue that there are feasible alternatives, e.g. auditoriums or public parks meant for this kind of activity, and that H is taking advantage of lower cost inherent in using property not intended for (or priced at) commercial concert use.

Court should question why this litigation in the first place:  only 2 parties, they should bargain.  Good alterna-tive might be to enjoin concerts until parties settle (Boom-er).  May depend on judge/jury, however, and their value judgments as to the utility of environment-benefitting rock concerts v. R's enjoyment of an idyllic pastoral setting.  If concert noise, trash, traffic, etc. bad enough (great story-telling opportunity for R's attorney), court may find nuisance so bad that they enjoin regardless of economics.  (Steinbeck lives!).

Last hurrah:  given nature preserves on both sides, possibility of public nuisance -- threat to environment from noise, traffic, etc.?  If I were R's attorney (unconstrained by exam deadline), I would explore this further ... but standing?

Question 4E:  Model #2:  Ray may have a number of actions against Clara.  The first issue is the right of the public to use the access road.  Here it is unclear that they are still using the road that cuts across his property because there are now two roads - but I'll assume both roads are being used because of large amount of traffic.  In 1961 when Doris sold to Gladys - if the it to use the driveway was written in the grant - ie Doris reserved an easement - or retained the driveway for herself (first seems more correct) then Doris has (had) an express easement (whether it's still valid will be discussed later).  

If Doris did not write it out by deed there still may be a type of easement by implication - Doris may have an im-plied easement in fact - like pipeline in Von Sandt.  Since there was no other way into the property and Doris continued to use the driveway both parties intended that the easement would be granted.  Restmt Prop § 28 factors to imply this type of easement focus on many factors - one being prior use, here evident that it was being used by Doris to get to her land and it was also necessary at this time.  Because it may be an easement implied in fact when the necessity is no longer there the easement remains because it's what the parties intended.  (Again it can go away by other means).  

The easement may also be by necessity (in-law).  The need occurred when the parcel was split and unlike in other it was even the exact same driveway that had been used.  Here though if need goes away - i.e. 2nd access - so does the easement.  Although Clara could argue because so many people coming she needs 2 accesses - this may get her in trouble - more later.  

A weak point may be that there's an emnt by prescrip-tion (A.P.) - here it's been 24 years since the driveway has been used by the dominant estate [Doris']).  It has been open, notorious, maybe not continuous, in some place, but doesn't seem like it's been without permission for the time period.  May be a "public prescriptive easement" at this point because of the importance to public.  If so is it a taking - inverse condemnation!?  

If Ray says he gave permission may get himself into trouble with easement by estoppel.  Here they (Hudson) began using the driveway in 1983 to set up the new big amphithea-ter and at this point Ray didn't object.  Did Ray know what they were doing - probably unless the estate is REALLY big and he only saw few trucks going across may have thought they were repairing the house etc.  It may not have been reasonable for Hudson to rely on the driveway for such a drastic use - concert goers - but maybe Ray should have stopped him before he started.  As in easement by necessity - an easement by estopel is void if there is no longer a need for it - see earlier arguments.

If easements were implied in fact, prescriptive, writ-ten, (or even in law or estoppel if necessity not strict in this jurisdiction) there are still other ways to remove an easement.  If written may want to hold Ray responsible for not having it in writing that use was to be limited - even though he didn't write it.  If implied in fact go back to intent of parties.  Burden contemplated was one where Doris could cross it to reach her land and her friends could use it too -- it was only for few weeks out of year and even though she may have had quite a few friends couldn't be as many using it now - i.e. 8 months/year and large amphithea-ter vs. smaller bandshell.  This seems much more revolution-ary than evolutionary and it seems that Hudson is overusing the easement.  Most courts would enjoin - however there's a remote possibility as in Brown that the misuse will only lead to damages.  (Unlike Brown because Brown really was a minor misuse).  He still may have to allow Clara to use easement (unless in law; estoppel) because seems that it would be silly to think there would never be a full time owner.  Also in 6 years of no use Ray may be able to say Hudson abandoned but weak because he just wasn't there to use it.  Overuse and second access probably his best arguments for cutting it off.  

The next issue arises in the promise between Gladys and Doris over not holding concerts.  This contract could be classified as a (-) easement (can't do something on servient estate and it benefits dominant estate), a real covenant (RC) or an equitable servitude.  (-) easement must be in the deed because they are difficult to discern and they make property less alienable - doesn't say that it was in the deed - but if it were may be enforceable - i.e. Peterson specific intent was to let Gladys get over her nervous breakdown therefore not enforced but general was to keep place peaceful - therefore enforced.  

It's more likely to be a R.C. or E.S.  There is a pro-mise- and consideration was given for that promise.  The benefit however may be personal to Gladys (in gross) and therefore may not "run with the property".  It doesn't seem to benefit the land in any way - except maybe a peaceful place to live is an economic type benefit.  The parties appeared to bind the successors of Doris - but doesn't say that they would have to continue to benefit the successors of Gladys if did better argument that not personal.  

If it is a R.C. privity would be required a) horizontal ok since 1) already an easement (I think) and 2) if in jur-isdiction where granter-grantee is applicable.  For vertical privity may be ok - the estate is not the same as it was in 1961 when D sold to G - because D sold some of it to govern-ment.  They are however both fee simples and remained so.  Depends how define same estate.  The side with the burden is not the same in area but it is the same in type of estate.  

If it is an E.S. the buyer of estate needs to have no-tice of the promise.  Here she did see the bandshell in dis-repair and asked about it.  She was only told that it hadn't been used for awhile - therefore she didn't know there was any agreement, but some cases, i.e. Sanborn, imply that she should have known because of the "disuse" - in Sanborn all residential therefore should have known couldn't build gas station - seems weaker here.  

Finally does it touch/concern the land?  If jurisdic-tion recognizes benefit that having the land peaceful is an economic benefit maybe ok.  Burden does concern the land because says they can't build on it.  Like Caulett benefit may be more in gross.  Seems like he really can't get the contract enforced this way but - before he gives up he should check the zoning provisions.  If the land was not zoned for this use he may be able to enjoin.

Next Ray can try nuisance law and may successfully get rid of all his problems.  If Morgan type test controls - is this a substantial harm to a reasonable person?  Then he probably would get it enjoined.  Fact specific.  This is a rock band - but what kind of rock - maybe really mellow.  See the patrons making a mess of his place.  Is it every night for 8 month/year or 1 time a month?  Then if gives to jury they may be pleased to have Hudson in the area - i.e. Mick Jagger in your backyard or may be pleased because of good that has been done that not a nuisance.  

If 826 of RST applies need to determine if harm > uti-lity of conduct - here unclear again need more facts - area seems to be heavy into environmental stuff, therefore may say not a nuisance, but if 826b applies in this jurisdiction - harm is serious and giving damages won't lead to going out of business - may at least get damages.  Here presume utili-ty > harm.  Need to find out how much money damages are.  Since money is going to charity may not have enough to pay damages, therefore wouldn't fit under 826b either.  Seems better way to read 826b is to have jury determine what dama-ges are vs. what the nuisance creator can afford and award some % - i.e. not all or none.  But cases didn't seem to go that way.  Here damage seems > a/c case (?name) but benefit to environment is really large.  In A/C case, Tex didn't seem to have housing problem.  May not be allowed to abate - but maybe some damages awarded.

Last - is Hudson doing anything to hurt the environ-ment, i.e. patrons putting LSD into lake and fish are muta-ting?  If any environmental problems maybe could enjoin.  (Weak) Probably better to bargain - give Ray part of pro-ceeds - let him charge for going through his access.  Best solution probably somewhere in middle - just need to tell parties what it is.

Question 4J: Model #1:  [Comments in brackets are Fajer's.  The first answer was the highest raw score--that is, identified the most relevant is-sues.  However, the writer did not see the adverse posses-sion issues at all.  In some classes, missing a major issue would cost many points.  I include it as a model answer be-cause the form of the discussion is generally good and the writer saw most of the other possible issues]  Ringo will argue his claim on several fronts. [NOTE:  This sort of intro is unnecessary.]

First, the will did not conform to the required formalities of wills.  One of the witnesses was only 15 years old--in some states, a witness must be at least 18.  This may not be a problem if we are in a jurisdiction where wit-nesses need only be competent to be a court witness.  If the 15 year old is eliminated as a witness we will have, at best, 2 witnesses (some j's require 3) and the two wintesses left are also suspect.

The lawyer is suspect because she is a friend of an in-terested party.  [NOTE: We discussed no rule that said this; it would be a difficult rule to apply because the lawyer and the other witnesses often are friends of the family].  April is suspect because she is an interested party [NOTE: You should define interested witness briefly here].  The lawyer can argue that she had no stake in April's inheritance and the facts may well bear her out after all she did tell Ringo of one later conversation with KK, plus she doesn't seem to have benefited.  April is suspect for several reasons.

First, Ringo may charge simply that because April is an interested witness, her inheritance should be void.  If they are in Florida, the fact that she is interested won't mat-ter.  Besides, April can argue that she knew nothing of the contents of the will when she signed.  Again, the lawyers testimony should bear out the facts.  Second she can argue that regardless, she is the natural object of KK's bounty, since she cared for him and he has no close relatives.  [NOTE: The previous two sentences really are relevant to undue influence and not to whether April is interested.]  Almost always, however, formal adherance to the rules wins out over intent as interpreted by context.

Ringo, however, will probably argue undue influence. [NOTE: You should define undue influence here and argue whether the facts meet the definition.]  He will paint her as an evil money grubber who cared for KK only to get his money.  The fact that she later moved in with another sick old man won't help her here.  This will be tricky for both sides to prove.  The court may well decide in Ringo's favor if they are inclined to want to sanction young nurse types who inherit.  On the other hand, Ringo is far removed family-wise.

Ringo can also argue duress by fact that all 3 witness-es were confidantes or related to each other.  Next, Ringo may argue that KK was not of sound mind when he wrote the will.  He will say that about the fact that he gave money to "Say No to Disco" and to an unrelated woman proves he's loo-ney.  April will come back saying that she is natural object of bounty and the rest left to SNTD is small: indulge an old man his whim remember that testamentary intent is the whole point of wills.  Ringo will say that his ramblings about be-ing paranoid that April will kill him shows either 1) duress or fraud or 2) he is insane.  But this argument is tricky & cuts both ways.  The will might have been written at a lucid internal - or he might have gone crazy afterward.  If he did, then his later noncupative oral will-expressing intent to leave Ringo something, will not fly.  Ringo might instead argue that the fact that he left money to the nurse shows he is crazy - after all she's not family and was obviously ta-king advantage of him.  This reasoning is rather circular.

Finally R will argue that the noncupative will should be honored.  This is when, at last sickness, a testator ex-presses wishes.  However, this usually must be with witness-es - more than one and must be written down shortly thereaf-ter.  Many j's do not honor these at all.  [NOTE: Non-cupa-tive wills generally apply only to small amounts of personal property, and KK's statement of intent to leave something to Ringo is probably too vague to honor in any event.]

Ringo will have to fight to get the will void complete-ly (better to argue undue influence and duress and fraud, unsound mind and non-compliance with formalities than simply interested witness, because, if they simply eliminate Ap-ril's take, the rest will go thru residuary clause and end up with SNTD Disco.)

As for the objects found in the box, several people will have claims:  April, Mc Murphy, Sweep, and Ringo (should he be successful in voiding the will and having intestate succession kick in although even with intestate, he is so far removed it's questionable that he'd get the estate anyway).

April, as owner of the house, will claim the songs and cuckoo as part of her inheritance.  (The will did leave house and everything in it).  The box was fairly well embed-ded in the fireplace fuel and like the rings embedded in the pool in South Stafforshire.  The owner of the locus gets the find.  However, the sweep will argue that the finder has rights as against all but true owner (Armory) and since the true owner is dead or unknown, and since so much time has passed so as to obscure the intent of the owner (abandoned, lost or mislaid)  The finder should get the find.  He will also say that April has no control over one property at this point that therefore, it belongs to finder (Hannah, Bridges).  April will argue that that assumes that the cuckoo and songs were lost or abandoned - she can say that they were obviously left there to be retrieved later - hidden - and so belong to the house.  Like the artifact in Elwes v. Briggs, owner of locus takes.  Court may decide to reward Sweep for turning the items in - if in fact he has, which is unclear.

McMurphy will have a claim in the items for 2 reasons.  FIrst Sweep works for him.  Usually, if a find by an employ-er whose job description includes finding and turning in lost or mislaid items, the items title will revert back to the employer.  It is debatable whether that was part of Sweep's job.  Second, Mc Murphy will claim rights because the locus was in his control - and had been for a number of years.  In fact, the find would never have occurred had he not embarked on the renovation.

Neither Mc nor Sweep is a trespasser.  Nor was item found on public land - in which case statutory provisions would require that the goods be turned into official for advertising.

Question 4J: Model #2:  [Although this answer received a few less points in raw score, it was the best in terms of structure and it discussed the adverse possession issues.  Note that even this answer does not raise capacity of the testator or undue in-fluence.  The best answers are never perfect, but generally hit more of the issues in the problem and in a more struc-tured fashion than the others.]  The validity of the will is the first area that needs to be discussed.  Depending upon the jurisdiction, the will could be invalid for the following reasons:  1) April is considered an interested witness [NOTE: should define this here], but this won't necessarily invalidate the will if she was also an unnecessary witness.  (If the state requires only  2 witnesses - she is unnecessary).  2)  Jack could be too young to be a witness.  If the state requires witnesses be at least 18 years old (and not just competant to testify in it), then he is not a legitimate witness.  If Jack is not a legitimate witness then April would have been necessary, and given her interested status - the will would be invalid, or it least the portion of it that was supposed to go to April.  If April is not the owner of the house according to the will Ringo would have been the owner upon the death of Ken.  If the will was valid, April was the rightful owner since no will formalities were taken when Ken said he thought he ought to change his will.

If April was the owner of the house in 1975, when she would have remained the owner until 1986 when the objects were found.  April would probably be found to be the owner of the objects because possession of land equals possession of everything attached to it, or under it and sometimes upon it, and according to Hannah - because she had at one point occupied the house - she would get the objects.  This out-come is not definite is some its disregard the "upon it" part of the definition, and instead award the goods to the finder who has title against all but the true owner (Armory), who in that case would have been Ken who was dead. [NOTE: Should follow up here: whoever took property at Ken's death is now the true owner.]  

If April had not been the owner of the house in 1975 when Ken died, the owner would have been Ringo.  The ques-tion then arises of whether McMurphy has adversely possessed the land.  [NOTE: In fact, the question is whether April ad-versely possessed; McMurphy was only acting w permission from April; I think it probable that if his actions consti-tuted adverse possession, she would get title] 5 elements must be met for adverse possession.

1.  Actual - McMurphy has substantially used the pro-perty, he has improved it, and has been running a business on it.  The only snag here would be if a business was not "appropriate" use of those premises

2.  Open/Notorious - Mc Murphy's business is definitely open and notorious.  There would be evidence to one standing on the property that it was being used.  His business was successful - reputation is taken into account.

3.  Exclusive - This element would have been broken if the court considers the fact that Ringo slept on the proper-ty one night enough to break exclusivity.  The probability for this conclusion though, is not good because Ringo was not in any way asserting his ownership of the land in 1980.

4.  Continuous - Mc Murphy from all indications has continously been on the property since 1979 - enough time to constitute adverse possession with a 7 year limit.  (If the minimum is more than 7 years the whole point is moot.)  There is one other point that may make the issue moot.  Since Ringo was out of the country until 1980 - could have been excused of his duty to exert his property right in 1979.  If minimum is only 5 years to advs. possession then whole point is moot as will because Mc Murphy has been on property without interruption from Ringo for more than 5 years.

5.  Adverse/Hostile - Ringo had never given permission to McMurphy, so this element is definitely met.  Color of title may be important as well because if the state requires one to pay taxes on advs. possessed property when there is no color of title (which Mc Murphy definitely did not have) then he may lose automatically.  Also "claim of title" or state of mind might prevent Mc Murphy from getting it if it is necessary that he can't know he's not true own.  If Mc-Murphy satisfies all elements, he owns the property, if not Ringo owns property.

Ringo owns house - Sweep gets objects because Ringo ne-ver occupied house (Hannah).  If Mc Murphy owns the house there is a question as to who gets the objects - Most Ameri-can cts. give to finder although some say if finder has duty to hand over then goes to owner of premises.  Elwes applies in a remote sense?

QUESTION 4N:  COMMENTS: Both model answers are quite solid; the first is a little stronger because it handles the technical issues very well. Neither model answer is strong on every issue I thought would be contested.  The substantive analysis I was looking for is laid out below. 

Rule Against Perpetuities:  The perpetuities analysis is nearly identical to the problem in Assignment IV.  The grant can only vest if G's grandchildren are alive.  Thus, if no further grandchildren can be born at G's death, grant is OK.  Need to determine if G has children alive at his death.  If not, grant fine.  If so, grant fails, and you'd have to check local wait-and-see or cy pres to see if Diana's interest survives.

Recording Acts:  The first model does a very good job working through all the permutations here.

Common Scheme/Intent:  Good arguments on both sides about whether grantor intended/created common scheme.  More than half the lots free of restrictions, but was plan encompassing all lots at start plus sign and name of development.

Notice:  Might be notice from:  recorded plat or deeds of first lots sold; will if it is recorded in a way that S can access it (we didn't discuss this, so you could argue either way); common scheme (if any); sign & name of development.  However, pretty hard to see this by driving through neighborhood, so harder call than Sanborn. 

Privity:  B will try to enforce implied promise from G to B.  If jurisdiction treats promises made in conjunction with transfers as horizontal privity (or if no horiz. privity at all) OK.  If requires landlord-tenant, no good.  Strict vertical privity between G and S is not met (G had fee simple; S has fee simple on executory limitation) unless RAP has eliminated restriction on S lot, but some jurisdictions only require successors in interest.

Touch & Concern/Public Policy:  Lots of possible discussion of this; hard question as to whether smoking restriction is too personal/untied to land.  Both models do a good job with this issue.

Nuisance:  I hadn't intended this issue to be in the question, but many of you made pretty good points about it.  B might have a private nuisance claim, although likely to be pretty weak because hard to believe her property value falls if S smokes; she's likely oversensitive.  A few of you got credit for solid cost/benefit analysis on this issue.

QUESTION 4N:  STUDENT ANSWER #1:  Diana's right to prop.:  G will give R (and heirs) a FSD (fee simple determinable).  Generally the language, so long as, indicates FSD.  The condition on R being that if tobacco is used on premises, the oldest living Grandkid (GK) of G gets lot.  GK had an executory interest.  Perhaps R could have a fee simple on condition subsequent, but GK still has an e.i. and really only difference is GK would have to take action to get property from R (ex-file a lawsuit).

Is will valid under RAP?:  e.i. vests when R uses tobacco.  R is a measuring life — he's alive at time of grant and affects vesting.  Since R can't use tobacco more than 21 yrs after he dies —the condition is valid. — No violation of RAP.

Roy sells his interest to S.  When a FSD or FSCS is sold, the condition is transferred.  Therefore S is still held to the condition that GK gets prop if tobacco is used.  However, did S know about the restriction?  Perhaps he can argue he is a BFP and shouldn't have to adhere to the condition.  If S has to/had to adhere to condition then D can have property since she's got the e.i.  For S to be a BFP he must have paid some value for the property and had no notice of the condition.  We don't know how much S pd — but as long as more than nominal and a "reasonable amt" that requirement will be met.

Notice:  Notice can be actual or constructive.  S didn't have actual notice since R failed to mention in the quitclaim deed the smoking restriction.  S is not automatically on inquiry notice (constructive) b/c the deed was quitclaim (Sabo).  However the common scheme of development should've put S on inquiry notice.  (See argumts re common scheme or not in next section of answer).  If S did have inquiry notice then he's not a BFP and is not protected from the restriction on smoking.  If he is a BFP and common scheme is not inquiry notice, then perhaps the condition doesn't apply to him.

Recording:  Several facts would help in this issue.  S recorded, but was G will recorded?  If G will was recorded then S should have checked in records and then would be on notice of restriction.  In a notice or race notice juris. D would have claim to prop.  If it's a race jurisdiction we'd have to know which deed/will was recorded 1st.  If S was first, he gets prop.  If will was first, D gets prop.

Remedies for B from S:  B will want to argue that S owes her damages or should be enjoined from smoking on property.  Condition to not smoke is a reciprocal negative easement aka a group equitable servitude that restricts S from smoking even though the restriction wasn't expressly stated to him.  This restriction/burden is passed on to S b/c of a common scheme.

G, the original owner of plat, subdiv. land into 75 2-acre lots w/ a home on each.  He marketed the area as Fresh Air Estates and included a big non smoking symbol, therefore expressing his intent to create a dvlpt w/o smoking.  30 of the 75 lots were sold w/ the restriction expressly stated.  However G sold 44 of 45 remaining lots to L, w/o the restriction.  This could pose problems b/c if G intended no smoking on entire area why didn't he include restriction when he sold to L?  Perhaps b/c the restriction was too inconvenient and posed problems when trying to sell.  The final lot, G saved for himself and passed on to R who sold it to S.  However, if common scheme is found then all the lots are bound to it and S can't get out of it.  Therefore he must stop smoking on premises and/or pay B.

If not a common scheme, should the burden of the restriction — not to smoke — run w/ the land and be applicable to S?  If it is applicable then B can recover, either by $ or injunction.  Does S have notice of restriction?  S may have been put on notice by the common scheme, the advertising w/ no smoking sign, the recorded will of G, etc.

Did G intend for burden to run?  Could go either way:  Yes, he developed the common scheme originally w/ such ideas, but as mentioned earlier, why did he sell 44 lots w/ the restriction?

Hor. Privity existed btwn original parties G and R — a relationship of grantor/grantee.  Vert privity btwn R and S existed.  The privity requirement seems to be less and less important of element to courts.  In equity, no privity is required; in the running of a benefit, only vertical privity is required (City Reno, Restatement).  And Moseley hints that as long as "most of the elements are present" a burden can run.  This is not the majority view as of yet since Eagle claims all legal pre-requisites must be met clearly in order for burdens to run.

Touch and concern will be S's big arguing point.  There are several tests to see if a condition/promise T&C land — in general a move away from T&C in physical sense and more towards the effects on use and enjoyment and degree of inconvenience to the burdened party.  In Sanborn the ct. says any requiremt re use of land T&C, therefore since can't smoke on land — does that = use?  The restriction on smoking and the breaking of such restriction affects other people's use of land.  And it effects S's ability to fully use and enjoy his property.

Is the requirement too inconvenient?  Possibly.  The condition is to all present and future residents (in common scheme) and is not allowed ever by R (or a transferee) therefore ct may say duration is too long.  May impose constraints on alienation which cts don't like.  Perhaps G realized this when he didn't include restriction in sale to L; and may be R realized this when he didn't tell S re restriction.  The purpose of condition was clear and fresh air for all neighbors, so perhaps the restriction could be amended so as to still serve purpose but be less restricting: allows to smoke in the house.  (w/ closed windows — is that at all safe?)  However, some amt of smoke will probably escape regardless.

Finally, Moseley asks, does the promise (restriction) have a logical connection to land?  Yes b/c no smoking/fresh air estates insinuates smoke free environment.  No — why should restriction limit your ability to do legal activities on your property and in your own home?  Cts are generally against affirmative burdens b/c of fear of restrictions alienability.  Perhaps cts will find that since this "promise" promotes a public/social policy ag. smoking that it should be upheld.

QUESTION 4N:  STUDENT ANSWER #2:  D entitled to present poss of S's lot?:  Roy = F.S.E.L. — Transfer?  W/condition; D = Exec. Int. shifting

R sold, and as FSEL are transferable, it was probably a good sale. The sale to S w/a QC might mean that he received notice of the sale.  S should probably have inquired into the deed, as R probably knew of restriction as he probly saw it in the will.  Even so, the QC might make S wonder.  R may have known that S was a smoker & also of restriction, thus put the QC on to cover himself and skipped town.  S contends he no idea of restriction, b/c R did not tell him, and should not be held as breaking the restriction by his occasional smoking as he did not know.

Because no notice in deed, would need to see if notice from common scheme or plan  Arguably, it should have been obvious to S that there was a restriction. The sign at the main development coupled w/a universally known no smoking sign may tip him off.  S contends that the sign "Fresh Air E's" is representative of the spacious two acre lots.  The no smoking sign maybe only point to the  nearby area (Manager's office? Guardhouse, etc.) Also, the records of the deed may have tipped S off to the other deed restrictions. Could S have seen other thirty deeds w/ restriction?  Was a plan filed in the county office concerning "Fresh Air Estates"?

D may or may not be entitled to present poss. of lot, as it seems S had no actual notice, but possible construction notice due to common scheme.  Sanborn he may have been put in inquiry notice by records. 

B's Remedies: B could try to enforce a real covenant or an equitable serv., which might be a better remedy b/c she is trying to not have him smoke, injunction more effective than R.C. remedy of damages.

Express or Implied Promise:  B is trying to enforce an implied servitude b/c S's deed does not have a restriction.  In her favor are the 30 deeds w/restrictions.  In Sanborn the Ct. enforces a deed w/ no restrictions b/c of evidence of a general plan of a residential 'hood and the D should have had at least inquiry notice.  Here a similar situation, the gen plan/common scheme (see above) is apparent.  In Sanborn there was also a showing of the common scheme in an abstract of title ----> S contends that since there was not one here (may or may not?) he could've not known of restriction as not in his deed, and he read advertising, etc. in a diff way (above).  Incidentally, if press coverage was extensive due to G's "chastening" (was he whipped?), it may serve as notice for S as well if he read the news on TV (was he local?).  This seems possible as the press may pay close attention as "fresh air estates" may be quite novel.

Intent to Bind:  Seems explicit, court will infer also from a common scheme.  If they see it S's way, may not be so inclined to enforce.  However, if most people seem to comply and scheme has worked, Sanbonn, S may be seen as a renegade and not suff. to protect his interests as a smoker.If ct. focuses on initial promise, inference seems easy.

Burden:  Not to smoke.  It must run.

Benefit: Clean air ----> must also run.

Touch & Concern: Looks to be in gross, as it applies to all "present and future residents" and the refraining from smoking does not seem to physically "touch" the land. Bigelow-Clark might be more useful:  Seems B's interest would T&C b/c more valuable as an owner.  Personally to her, and other residents.  May want to get them together to see.  She prob. bought to have clean air.  It lessens the value of the prop. To her and to others if that is diminished.  The restriction also seems to make his prop. less valuable b/c he cannot do what he wants with it.  It takes away one of his "sticks in the bundle."  B argues that his smoking actually diminished his prop. value as well, b/c if the 'hood lets in one smoker, other resid. might sell and might be harder to sell to new people who want it.

Would courts refuse to enforce b/c of pub. Policy? (1) Yes, if infringes on a personal freedom, we tax smokers heavy enough, so they should at least be able to do it on priv. prop. as restricted in so many public places.  (2) Best interest of fut. development & residents who have complied.  Interest of majority v. 1 person overrides

Possible nuisance action:  Is B oversensitive? She did not come to nuisance.  Cost/benefit:  Property values fall v. individual freedom.  

Court may have creative solution like smoke in the house 

Question 4R:  Comments:  Eminent Domain Issue:  What I Was Looking For

Clear & Significant Benefit:  This test requires you to enumerate the benefits of the program, then to discuss whether they are clear (as opposed to speculative) and significant (as opposed to marginal).  

Benefits?:  Program will facilitate production of an enzyme that cures some skin cancers.  Helpful to be specific about what the benefits are:  e.g., benefits patients by extending lives and improving quality of life (less itching/pain/disfigurement), benefiting patient’s families/friends by allowing more time with patients, maybe benefiting society by getting more productive time from patients.  

Clear?:  Problem says effectiveness of enzyme “proven”, so usefulness of treatment is not  speculative.  Perhaps need a condition guaranteeing T uses for ivy growing (like no resale condition in Midkiff), otherwise possible that no enzyme would be produced so benefits speculative.

Significant?:  Although courts probably comfortable with improving health as significant benefit, helpful to note that how significant depends on lots of facts outside problem.  You might have mentioned, e.g., how common the cancers are that ivy cures (more people saved = more significant); whether other effective treatments exist for same cancers (if so, maybe little change in people’s lives, so marginal); whether ivy grows well lots of places (if so, maybe sufficient quantities to get all benefits without Em.Dom.); how much enzyme produced by each ivy plant compared to amount needed for treatment (if 10 acres of ivy needed to treat one person, maybe program won’t help many people).  Might also compare to Poletown:  benefit was economic health of a whole city; probably would need to treat a fair number of people to be as significant.

Public is Primary Beneficiary:  This test requires you to compare benefit to private player (T’s profits) with the public benefits enumerated under the first Poletown test.   You should note that the same factors that determine the significance of the benefit also affect this analysis; the more significant the benefit, the more likely it is to be primary.  Helpful to engage in some attempt to balance:  e.g., “Because we value health and human life so highly, if even a few people are cured by the ivy, we should consider this the “primary” benefit  as compared to the merely monetary gains of T.”  Could also compare to Poletown.  E.g., “Poletown found gain to economy of Detroit ‘primary’ v. GM profits.  Here, health gains arguably more important than economic (should value lives above $) and T getting less benefit than GM because paying market value, not receiving huge subsidy.  Thus, even stronger case here for public as primary.”

Eminent Domain Issue:  Common Problems

Staying Within the Scope of the Question:  Many students improperly made arguments from Midkiff, Seattle, and the Poletown dissent.  I told you that the parties had challenged the program under the Public Use clause of the state constitution and that the state interpreted this clause like Poletown.  Thus, the only tests that you should have applied were those from the Poletown majority. Midkiff interprets the federal constitution and would not govern this problem.  Tests from In re Seattle are different from those in Poletown and would not govern.  Although Poletown dissent tests are in some sense “standards from Poletown,” in this context, they were non-responsive.
  The ordinary legal meaning of “X court  applies the rule from Y case” is the rule stated in the majority opinion.  The majority is the only binding part of a case; if you “apply” the case, you apply the majority’s rule.  

Staying Within Focus of Tests:  Many students made points that were not tied directly (or at all) to the terms of the legal tests.  For example, almost nobody attempted any kind of balancing when applying the primary beneficiary test.  On the other hand, many students talked about benefits to T under “clear and significant,” a test I view as focused entirely on the public’s benefit.

One-Sided or Conclusory Discussion:  Many students made arguments only in favor of the state or made arguments that simply restated the language of the test without support (“Obviously the benefit here is significant.”)  Defend your positions with specific facts and arguments.  Look hard for the best arguments for each party to a dispute. 

Recording Acts: What I Was Looking For:

1.  BFP Issues:  C paid roughly market value (=valuable consideration) and no evidence of actual notice, so most of discussion should be on:


a.  record notice:  A(B deed recorded under Ruiz & Bycepps.  Outside chain of title as prior deed says Astoria, not Ruiz.  If C’s deed also says Ruiz, she has enough info to find A(B (check grantor index under Ruiz), so will have record notice.  Even if C’s deed says Astoria, B will argue that famous wedding should put all on notice of name change. Room for a discussion on this question:  e.g., C will argue that unfair for people to lose property because they don’t read People magazine. 


b.  inquiry notice:  B will say she saw him jogging, which provides inquiry notice of his claim.  Room to argue about whether it ought to be enough.  E.g., C will say people commonly trespass when running or get permission; doesn’t suggest ownership, plus not doing anything connected to land (like manure-dumping or signs in examples in class).  B will argue, easy enough to ask; shouldn’t assume trespass.  If jogging is inquiry notice, her inquiry is insufficient; need to ask other party because owner has incentive to lie.

2.  Race Issues: In a race-notice jurisdiction, recording only counts for purposes of “race” if all documents in chain of title properly connected.  (Zimmer rule). Here, A(B deed arguably is wild, because of the name change.  If court holds that C is not under duty to search under Ruiz, it will probably also find that B’s recording doesn’t count.  Thus, if A(C deed says Astoria, C would win race, because her chain of title would be complete and B’s would not.  Even in a race jurisdiction, a court might not count a wild deed as winning the race because it defeats some of the purposes of the recording act. You might raise this argument for C (although we didn’t really discuss this in class with reference to race statutes).
Recording Acts: Common Problems

1.  Three Types of Jurisdictions:  Problem doesn’t say which type of recording act governs, so you should discuss all three.  Some people missed available points by assuming it was a notice jurisdiction. 

2.  First Grantee as “BFP”:  Many students improperly asked whether B was a BFP.  We don’t ask whether first grantee is a BFP; that is a status that you can only have if you are a later purchaser.  Thus, in a fight with a subsequent purchaser like C, whether B paid value is irrelevant.  As first in time, he wins unless C meets the requirements of the relevant recording act.

3.  Whose Recording Counts?  Several students suggested that either B or C or both had not “recorded” because A’s agent filed their deeds at the courthouse. The legal system doesn’t care who records a deed; the issue is simply whether a record of the transaction is in the public records.  Often in real life a messenger service will deliver deeds to the courthouse.  Thus, “B records” is shorthand for “the deed granting the property to B was recorded (by someone) at the courthouse.”  Here, both deeds were recorded, even though the seller’s agent filed them.

4.  Duty of Inquiry:  Many students suggested that C satisfied her duty of inquiry through her conversation with A.  If C had a duty to inquire, the inquiry must be of someone other than the seller who has incentive to lie.

5.  One-Sided or Conclusory Presentation:  As with the eminent domain issues, many students picked a winner on the recording act issues and just laid out arguments supporting their chosen one.  Interestingly, the class split between those who were sure C won and those who were sure B won.  Also like the eminent domain issue, many students presented unsupported conclusions: “Although C had inquiry notice of B’s claim, she satisfied her duty.”  Find places to have longer discussions.  Support your conclusions.

Adverse Possession Issue:  What I Was Looking For

1.  Statute of Limitations:  Length of statute key to outcome.  If greater than 13 yrs (e.g., Penn 21) C can’t adversely possess.  If statute less than 7 years, B’s re-entry irrelevant; C would have completed adverse possession before that.  If statute = 7 years (FL), B’s re-entry irrelevant if more than seven years from date of A’s first entry (unclear from problem).  Otherwise, adv. poss. only possible if B’s re-entry doesn’t toll statute.

2.  Ordinary Usage (Actual/Continuous): Both Linck and Howard ask about ordinary use for this type of land.  Room for a long discussion here:  what is ordinary use of 5-acre wooded lot?  Nature preserve?  House?  May depend on where lot is (wilderness?  near suburbs?)  Linck allowed adverse possession with color of title on very spotty possession in terms of both actual & continuous.  This is even less.  Should Linck be pushed this far?  Lots to say here.

3.  Exclusivity: Should jogging toll statute of limitations?  He is using it the same way he always did but use is consistent with trespass and isn’t connected to the land (not building, residing, growing, etc.)  Room for discussion as to whether jogging for two weeks in 13 years is sufficient.

4.  Less Important Issues:  I thought the other elements deserved less time than those noted above.  My sense of the relevant analysis follows:

a.  Other tests for actual:  If state requires cultivation, enclosure, improvements (NY, FL), she didn’t.


b.  open & notorious:  Normally just means visible on surface of property.  Her uses were visible.  If she had done them everyday, three times a day, this element would be met.  That suggests that gaps between use should be dealt with under continuous, not open & notorious.


c.  adverse/hostile:  Normally means without owner’s permission.  No permission here.  To the extent it means use as though you are the owner (Linck), should be met.  She believes she owns it.


d.  state of mind:  All jurisdictions treat good faith belief in color of title as sufficient.  States requiring “bad” state of mind do so only for cases without color of title.


e.  color of title:  Her deed is color of title here.  Might note the consequences:  lower threshold for actual, constructive adverse possession, etc.

Adverse Possession Issue:  Common Problems

1.  Staying Within Scope of Element Under Discussion:  Each element has particular types of facts that it examines.  Helpful to begin discussion with definition of element or other indication of its focus and then to make sure you stay within that focus.  Several students, under the heading of one element, talked about facts related to another element, or simply listed facts without a clear indication of their legal relevance.   

2.  Equal Time:  Several students discussed each element for approximately the same amount of time.  This is never a good idea.  It is impossible to write a question in which all the elements are seriously contested; some of them will always be harder to resolve than the others.  Try to find (and spend more time on) more contested issues.

3.  Conclusory Statements:  Many students rushed through the elements and just announced the results (like sports tickers).  How many points do you really think you’ll get on an open book test for “Continuous: Yes.”?  If you’re really pressed for time, do fewer elements and at least put down a rule or some facts for each.

Question 4R: Model #1 (Eminent Domain Issue Only):  This student probably did the best job raising pro and con arguments for each prong of the test, but needed to stick more closely to the language of the tests.  Poletown majority used 2 criteria for determining whether eminent domain is valid.
 First, is there a clear and significant public benefit? Yes:
 Cancer is obviously a rampant problem for the public, little has been found to treat it.  Since the enzyme can be found at Waldenacre, it should be extracted, since little else is found to help cancer patients. However, not everyone suffers from cancer, so not everyone would benefit from this enzyme.  Furthermore, only some skin cancers are treated with this enzyme, so the population of beneficiaries is reduced even more.  On the other hand, lending more support to the use of eminent domain, society as a whole benefits from saving lives, for these lives may be of future inventors, scientists, lawyers, etc.

Second test primary beneficiary = public? Yes: Poletown majority found MI to be the primary beneficiary in that new jobs were to be created.  The economy surrounding the plant would thus flourish.
  Here, too, enzyme is to treat any individual with that type of skin cancer.  Since anyone is susceptible to cancer, primary beneficiary is the public. However, since the enzyme is very profitable, it means it costs a lot.  Therefore only those that can afford it will benefit. Furthermore, Tao will benefit significantly in profits. This private benefit, although not taken to defeat use of eminent domain in Poletown, may, if substantial enough, be seen to be too great and thus disallow eminent domain. This argument maybe strong here if it can be shown that there is other land that contains this enzyme, and thus eminent domain is not necessary.  But, then again, people may not just volunteer to give up their land, so eminent domain is needed.

Question 4R: Model #2 (Eminent Domain Issue Only):  This student makes a number of useful points about the problem that were not raised by Student #1.  Like Student #1, #2 could stick more closely to the language of the relevant tests.  #2 also needs to explore possible counter-arguments at more length:  Poletown majority opinion std: (a) Clear & Significant Public use
 - the land is needed to extract an enzyme from a plant that grows only there.  This enzyme is effective for treating cancers. Since cancer is a widespread & especially dangerous disease, the State has a pressing concern to find remedies for it.  Since the enzyme proved effective in accomplishing this goal, it seems the state has made its case in establishing this factor. The treatment of cancer is a significant public concern, and since the ivy enzyme has been shown to be effective, it is clearly of value to the state.
  However, more information is needed about statistical effectiveness of the enzyme.

(b) Public Primary Beneficiary - The state is using its Eminent domain  power to buy the land only to resell it to Tao Chemical Co.  This company is primarily interested in profit.  Thus one may argue the State is using its power to help one company achieve more profit, which is clearly not what Eminent Domain was intended for. However, to evaluate the state’s actions, one needs to examine the underlying reasons for the state’s use of Eminent domain.  Just as in Poletown, the State was using its power to condemn land & turn it over to private hands.  The state’s rationale was that it would subsequently lead to a great benefit to society, i.e. more jobs. In this case, the use the state is interested in is the treatment for cancer.  The State is interested in this for its citizens.  The Co. is not developing this for its own use, but rather for the multitudes of patients who may benefit from this treatment.
  Without the private co. investment, this treatment may never be developed.  Therefore, the State has demonstrated that its use of Eminent Domain will serve a public purpose & the public will be primarily benefited.
  That one co. will make profit in the process is a necessary condition to accomplish this public use.
 

Question 4R: Model #3 (Recording Act Issue Only): This student makes good points for each side on the issues of inquiry notice and record notice. However, the student does not separately address the three types of recording acts and does not clarify how inquiry and record notice affect the question of who gets title.  In terms of the recording acts issue, we know that C checked out the property beforehand and saw B running on it.  It is her responsibility b/c of her fear of inquiry notice that she adequately check to make sure that no-one is occupying the land.
  C will argue that she asked A who B was and what he was doing on the property.  The question is, will a court consider her search to be adequate.  Certainly, a responsible person who hears “That’s my trainer,” will expect that the trainer does not own the land, and the activity that he was engaging in isn’t one which is necessarily common among owners, in order to prove ownership.
 B in his defense will argue that it was C’s responsibility to ask him what he was doing on the land.  Even though C had no idea (presume) that A had amnesia, it would not have been very difficult for her to merely ask him and not A what he was doing just to be sure, after all she is buying the property.

Now, assuming the court says that as far as inquiry notice C has passed, another issue is whether she had record notice.
  The sale of the land was done under the name Ruiz, A.A. when it went from A to B.  But when A purchased the property from O, she purchased it under the name Astoria.  Under the majority test and certainly under the minority test, C could not have been expected to note this type of name change.
 However we don’t know certain circumstances, such as when A introduced herself to C, what name she used.  If it was Ruiz, then C could have checked the index and she would have seen that the property had been deeded over to B, but she wouldn’t have seen the O(A transaction. The situation should have seemed “fishy” to her and perhaps required her to do more legwork. If it was Astoria, she wouldn’t have seen the A(B transaction. 

Question 4R: Model #4 (Recording Act Issue Only):  This student displays a good knowledge of how the recording system operates and was one of the few students to see the Zimmer Rule issue.  Like Student #3, #4 incorrectly treats inquiry of seller as sufficient to meet inquiry notice burden.  Regardless of race, notice or race-notice, C will win.
  B being first may not actually matter because his deed has an incorrect name in the grantor-grantee index.  The name variation means C will not have notice from the records because it is a wild deed outside the chain of title.  The courts place the burden of correcting mis-recordings on the person who is receiving the property rights in order to keep transaction cost down.  It would be prohibitively expensive for C to search under all possible names of previous owners.
  B will argue the fame of A dictates C should research all known names of A. This still adds costs to C. 
   

C also made a good faith attempt to investigate the property.  She made inquiries and asked what B was doing on the property.
  Since she made all reasonable inquires
 and nothing looked out of place and B was indeed the trainer, C had no inquiry notice because to C all things pointed to A as the owner.  A trainer would be hard pressed to buy such a property and A claimed to be owner.  And records said so.  

C also recorded first within the chain of title.  The Zimmer Rule will be invoked to discount B’s record.
  

Question 4R: Model #5 (Adverse Possession Issue Only):  This student sees all major issues, organizes well, and makes a pretty good attempt to argue both sides.  Could go into considerably more depth on key contested issues (normal use; exclusive).  Another issue that needs to be addressed is adverse possession.
  If we assume that B is the record holder of the deed, then we must consider if C would be entitled to the land though adverse possession.
  First, we would need to know the statutory time requirement for adverse possession. 
  We know C purchased the land in 1986 and that the government took the land in 1999.  If the statute of limitations is longer than 13 years, then C could not acquire the ownership of Waldenacre though adverse possession (AP).  If we consider the statute of limitations to be 13 years or less, then we do have to consider whether C adversely possessed the land:

Actual - C entered the land, but used it Asporadically@, bringing her class and nieces onto it a few times a year.
  It might be that this is enough use of the property if that is the typical use that is given to property in Nature (Alaska, Kunto). If this is not sufficient use, C could not have adversely possessed the land. One argument for C is that B=s use of his land was very minimal.  This may help C because a) it shows she conforms to typical use to constitute actual use b) if, as a mater of policy, Nature courts wish to see land used and the sleeping owner punished, then C can argue she used land more than B.

Open/Notorious - Assuming B is one rightful owner, was he aware that C was there?  We know only at this point that in the time C was there, B returned to do laps on the property. Given her limited use of the land B might not realize C was there, thus her AP would not be open or notorious.
 

Continuous  The primary concern for C is that she did not remain continuously on the land.  She only came a couple of times during the year.  However, this may be typical of Nature, and so C would still meet continuous requirement.  In Kunto court considered that seasonal use of a summer home was within continuous element.

Exclusive  Again, that B came back presents a problem for C.  If, However, Nature is like Pennsylvania, it may require that B re-assert his claim to the land by filing a claim within a certain time of his return.
  

Hostile - it appears C does meet this requirement because she did not have B=s permission to be on the land.

Color of title - C was on Waldenacre under color of title.  She believed she owned the land and had the deed to prove it.  This can reduce her burden of proof with respect to the actual element.  If she believes she has title, then she may not feel the need to be on the land or make improvements to it.

Question 4R: Model #6 (Adverse Possession Issue Only): Although this answer is quite one-sided, the student does a good job presenting detailed defenses of the positions taken, doing an especially nice job comparing the facts of cases to the facts here.  Note also:  the introduction and conclusion are unnecessarily wordy.  The eminent domain compensation should go to B b/c C has not adversely possessed the property.  To adversely possess, C must have (1) actual use (2) open and notorious use (3) continuous (4) exclusive and (5) hostile.
  

While C may have continuous and hostilely possessed the property, the other 3 elements have not been met.
  C continuously used the property over the years, even though she wasn’t there all the time b/c she used this wooded area as a normal owner would.
  The use was also hostile b/c B did not give her permission.

However, most significantly the use by C was not actual.  Physical possession is required which generally entails cultivation or structural improvement. In VanValkenburgh, structures such as a chicken coop were not enough to be actual, here nothing was built and no cultivation.  While in the Alaska Bank case, the ct. found that a small amt. of improvement was actually required on wooded and not normally-used property, some structural improvements were made. There, the defendant actually built a fence to keep out boy scouts.  Here C did not grow or build anything at all on the property so her use is not actual.  While she does have color of title and the requirement of actual may be lessened, she must actually physically possess the property w/ some sort of structure or garden.
  

Secondly, the use was not open and notorious for many of the same reasons.  C only used the property sporadically which still constitutes continuous b/c of the normal use of a wooded property doesn’t require use all the time, but C left no structures or gardens, no physical possession, that would have caused B to think that someone else was using the land when he visited.

Finally, the use was not exclusive b/c B interrupted her use for 2 weeks.  This means that the statute of limitations for adverse possession would begin in 1993 and 6 years (in 1999) is probably not long enough to meet the statute of limitations.
  Cts. have found that storing materials or property only for 3 weeks can interrupt the continuity so it makes sense that B=s jogging there for 2 weeks would also interrupt the statute.  However, if the Nature is a jurisdiction like Pennsylvania, B may have only had a year to bring a claim against C, in which case the exclusive element would have been met.
 

However, most significantly C=s use was not actual b/c it did not leave physical evidence in the form of cultivation or structural improvement, which also affected the open and notorious element.

Question 4W:  Professor’s CommentsThese were generally pretty good.  I rewarded students who correctly identified contested issues, made arguments for both parties, and carefully used the facts.  Some analysis of the major issues follows: 


Will:  The question provides you with lots of facts designed to go to a discussion of undue influence.  The first model does a terrific job working through these.  In addition, you could discuss capacity, although there’s not a lot of evidence of incapacity except the possibility of pain medication.  The question says that the will “contained all the formalities necessary in the jurisdiction” so any discussion of number of witnesses, signing at the end, etc. was inconsistent with the facts you were given.


Implied Easement:  Only possibility here is an easement-by-implication. Split of properties and prior use are given and notice is likely given paved pathway across JJ’s lot.  Primary question is whether S intended the use to continue after the properties split.  Language re R’s lack of appreciation of lake mildly suggests not, but doesn’t seem to me to be conclusive, especially since a court might like the idea of continuing family traditions.  

Some jurisdictions require some necessity; if so, R will lose because access to recreational facility is never “necessary” to the use of the dominant parcel (needs to be landlocked without the access; it won’t be come worthless without the lake).  However, this would be an easement by grant (since grantor S is not retaining either parcel, so necessity requirement is less important).  Can also look at other facts made relevant by restatement, like:

· Other ways to get to lake (seems likely although all jet-skis might be launched from private docks.

· Affect on property value of the two lots (R’s lot depends on ease of alternatives; JJ’s lot may depend on proximity to house and how visible it is)

· Consideration paid by parties (both are gifts, so not very helpful, although hard for JJ to complain where it’s a gift)

Other kinds of easements not relevant here.  Easement can’t exist until property is split, so insufficient time for prescriptive easement and nothing in facts suggests that JJ gave R permission, so no easement by estoppel.  As noted, easement by necessity requires that parcel be landlocked; not an issue here.  Several of you treated as promissory servitude, but rights of way are easements and there’s no promise or common scheme to enforce here in any event.  


Duty to Disclose:  A could claim that she should be able to rescind because JJ did not disclose the noise from the lake.  In a caveat emptor jurisdiction A has no claim, and in a Stambovsky jurisdiction, A loses because I don’t see any way to argue that JJ created the jet-ski noise.   Thus, A would have to rely on Johnson.  The facts indicate she was unaware of the noise, but there was room for discussion of the other elements:


(i) No clear evidence in fact-pattern whether JJ knew, although she clearly has not owned the property very long and may never have stayed there.  However, she could have the info from, e.g., conversations with S or with neighbors.


(ii) Normally noise materially affects property value, but lake recreation during the day in the summer may not; access for jet-skis might make site valuable to some people.


(iii) A probably wouldn’t have been able to experience the jet-skis through earlier inspections because of the time of year, but signs etc might make their existence readily observable.  Moreover, you might discuss how much duty A has to inquire and research under the “readily observable” test.


Some of you discussed the concerns about the easement and the undue influence claim under duty to disclose.  However, these are both defects in the title and are best challenged as making title unmarketable.  Moreover, JJ did not know about either claim until the day she met R, so she would not have had to disclose.


Some of you suggested that the noise might be a nuisance, but, even if that were so, it would not give A an independent grounds to rescind the contract with JJ.  Moreover, A would face a “coming to the nuisance” defense if she went head with the purchase.


Marketable Title:  Assuming nothing in the form contract put any limits on JJ’s responsibility for title defects, A can claim that JJ’s title is not marketable because of the impending challenge to the will and because of the possible easement.  The will challenge would seem to be the kind of litigation that makes title unmarketable, although under the theory of Conklin, JJ might be able to prevail if a court thought that R’s claims were frivolous or if the will could be settled prior to the end of litigation over marketable title.  An undisclosed easement normally makes title unmarketable, but again, under the theory of Conklin, Andrea might be able to prevail.  In addition, some jurisdictions say that a visible easement does not make title unmarketable.

Question 4W:  Student Answer #1:  This answer does a very nice job identifying all the major contested issues and provided two-sided discussion of most of them.

Validity of Will:  R will try to argue that her father had a degenerative disease and changed his will just prior to dying. JJ will argue that the disease left SS’s mind “clear” and moreover the will itself shows that SS was lucid. R may try to argue the pain, medication, or fear of dying affected her father’s competency buy JJ will argue that SS’s intention was clear thru numerous actions/statements.


First, the bequests in the will show lucidity and understanding of his property and bounty. SS left art to a museum – this shows a grasp of his property and bounty. SS remembered that he changed his will and even threatened to change it back when JJ was trying to help him. This shows that SS consciously changed the heirs to his will. R may argue that by threatening to change it back, her father had changed it whimsically w/out really grasping the breadth of how important his decisions were. JJ can argue that SS made those comments when his blood pressure was low and he was in great pain. Moreover, JJ will say that her good intentions were shown when she asked SS the next day if he still wanted JJ to call his lawyer.


R may try to argue undue influence or duress by JJ. JJ was his nurse, and may be seen to have a confidential relationship. R will argue that her father was in terrible pain and lonely and was not a “free agent” to change his will b/c his nurse was constantly persuading him w/her not-so-subtle hints (i.e. b/c I’m trying to get all your money). JJ will argue she was “surprised” when SS’s lawyer actually came to the hospital and point to the fact that SS called his law firm on his own volition. Moreover, JJ will say she was only joking and never tried to persuade him. In fact, she even reminded him that he had threatened to change his will back and offered to call his lawyer.


R will then try to argue that JJ is friends with the lawyer (long-time friends) and JJ had a conversation w/ the lawyer immediately prior to SS changing his will. JJ will point to the fact that she left the hospital when the will was changed and did not offer to be a witness. Moreover, JJ will argue that SS’s will contained all the formalities req’d by the jur’n. In fact, the will was admitted to probate w/out a problem and the property distributed. I think R will have a difficult time challenging the will.

Easement:  R will argue that she has an implied easement to use the paved walkway. R will argue that the walkway was there when the parcel was split and has an existing use (to get to the lake from the main house). 


Furthermore R will argue that JJ and any subsequent buyer (AA) has at least inquiry notice b/c the path is paved and runs directly from the main house to the lake which should put a reasonable person on notice. R will argue that her father surely intended that she reserve an easement b/c “we’ve always used this path to go picnicking”. 


JJ will argue that the literal language of the will suggests SS’s intent was that R should not have access to the lake. SS deliberately gave R the east house b/c “she never really appreciated the lake anyway”, R will assert. JJ will argue that the easement isn’t “necessary” only convenient, and will place undue hardship on her or subseq. purchasers b/c of the acrimonious relationship b/w her and R.


R will argue that the easement should be allowed b/c it greatly affects the value of the house to have access to the lake. Although the language of the will can be interpreted differently, I think R will be granted an implied easement b/c the pathway had an existing use and was there when the parcel was split.

Duty to Disclose:  Whether AA can rescind may depend upon which test the jurn employs to decide a seller’s responsibility (Stambovsky, Johnson, caveat emptor, statutory list). If the jur’n uses caveat emptor, AA will not be able to even attempt to rescind based on the jet ski. 

If jur’n employs Stambovsky, again AA will probably not be able to rescind b/c of the jet ski noise. AA will argue that the jet ski noise is material to her and decreases value of house as it is right next to lake. JJ can argue that AA cannot rescind because a reasonably prudent purchaser would have inquired and found out about the noise pretty easily b/c according to R the lake is known locally as “Lake Make-A-Noise.”  JJ will also argue under Stambovsky that she has nothing to do w/ the jet ski noise, didn’t create it, heck and didn’t even know about it. 

Under Johnson, JJ will argue that she didn’t know about the noise (b/c she never lived there during the summer) and therefore could not have disclosed it to AA. Moreover, JJ will argue that jet ski noise is not a “material” fact that will change value of house as it is only during summer and during “nice” days. JJ can also point out under Johnson that the jet ski noise is readily observable if AA had come to the property at all or asked neighbors. AA will also argue that it was “the first warm, sunny day of the year” and she would have no opportunity to observe the jet skis yet. AA will argue that the noise is so bad it has earned a nickname and thus does materially affect the value under Johnson.  
I doubt AA will prevail in any of the tests required to rescind the K based on JJ’s duty to disclose the jet ski noise.

Rescind K Based On No Marketable Title:  AA will argue that JJ entered into a K to buy the property. AA will argue she had no notice of easement (b/c not even JJ knew) and that alone gives her the rt to rescind. Moreover, AA will argue she did not enter a K that would expose her to litigation, Lohmeyer. AA will point out that every sale of real estate comes with an implied marketable title, free from litigation. AA witnessed R’s threats to JJ to pursue litigation re the will (“get a lawyer”) and it is a quite logical assumption that R would pursue litigation with AA to obtain the easement to use the path. R claims “we will always use this path”.


JJ will argue that AA cannot rescind based on no marketable title b/c a reasonable person would have at least inquiry notice about such an obvious pathway across the property, particularly when it is paved. Or JJ could argue that there is no easement based on SS’s language in his will. This is a weak argument b/c it will still likely end in litigation b/w R and thus no marketable title. I believe AA will likely prevail if she tries to rescind the K based on the likelihood of future litigation making the title unmarketable.

Question 4W:  Student Answer #2:  I think the format used here (doing one side, then the other) can get in the way of nuanced discussion, but this student does a fine job using it to articulate a wide range of arguments.  This was the answer with the largest raw score.

Randi Challenging the Will

Randi’s Arguments: People in the hospital are in a bleak situation. They are uncapable of seeing the total picture. Even though his mind was clear, when he was in the hospital, his condition swayed his judgment to favor JJ b/c she was nice to him and gave him temporary satisfaction.


JJ was apparently a con artist who tricked my father into giving her some of his estate. She admitted to “trying to get you to leave me all your money”. When he actually did it, she said, “it’s about time”. When my father threatened her to cancel her portion, she said “you’re way to sick today to do anything like that”.


From her statements, it seems very apparent that JJ used undue influence on my father who was clearly slowly suckered into leaving her part of his estate. By calling him naughty and flirting with him, JJ was appealing to his sexual senses.


We know what men will do for sex. Furthermore, we know what men will do for the possibility of remote chance for something sexual. In my father’s case, b/c of his degenerative disease, it was likely that he wasn’t able to sexually perform, but men sure can imagine. Her flirting with him, stimulated his mind on a sexual manner, and was undue influence on his judgment.


Apparently, the other nurses said that JJ’s a con artist. A past record of her relationships with patients would be helpful. Is this the first patient she’s been extra nice to? Is she only nice to the rich ones? Has she accepted people’s will before? Has she been accused of undue influence before? Duress? People don’t normally give their money away to nurses. They give it to their family.


Randi will accuse JJ of talking to her high school lawyer friend Nelsy Buist and working with her to steal her father’s money. Having her friend as Scott’s lawyer does seem very shady.

JJ’s Arguments: In the patient-nurse relationship, these people have no hope, nothing to look forward to. Their entire outlook is determined by how the nurses treat them. That’s why I try to always be nice and friendly to the patients, to still give them something to be optimistic about. (assuming she’s nice to everyone and not just to him). 


Scott was known to be bad with all the nurses, so I tried to liven things up for him. Am I not allowed to joke to keep his spirits up? I wasn’t taking all his money. Those comments were just to keep him from getting so jumpy and antsy. I was surprised to see that he actually brought a lawyer and was serious about our jokes. I told Buist to make sure he was sure he wanted to give something to me and to make sure it passed legal formalities (using the Buist/JJ conversation to her advantage).


A couple days before he died, when he threatened to call his lawyer, he was very sick. He wasn’t in the condition to be making any decisions for good or bad. To prove my good intentions, I asked him the next day if he wanted to call, and he said no. Also, I was not present when the will was signed. That’s evidence that I didn’t exert undue influence.


I used reverse psychology, through my comments, on him to not be confrontational with him like the rest of the nurses were. Their accusations about me are pure jealousy that he responded well with me and “bats” with them.  

Counter by Randi: The will was not taped, so it doesn’t have video proof of its legitimacy. Buist could have been working to help JJ out. Also the facts state that JJ was surprised to see that the lawyer was Buist, not that a lawyer was sent. Therefore, it looks like she was expecting a lawyer to be sent. She only knew my father when he was sick and dying so she know she would be fixed up for a quick paycheck. Not like Webb where Donovan knew her four years prior.

Counter for JJ: I could only know your father when he was sick and dying, I was his nurse. You can’t hold that to my detriment. Originally, Scott told Randi that he called his lawyer and that his lawyer would come to fix the will. She never told him to call the lawyer. The facts say his mind was clear. Also, you weren’t even at his bedside, which made him cranky. Certainly, he wouldn’t give everything to you.

Counter for Randi: The reason why he was cranky was b/c since I am his only clear relative, he cared so much for me and loved me, so for me to be serving in the military, it worried him. Being his only close relative, your portion should go to me.

Conclusion: I think that JJ will prevail, as in Webb, in not having the family win. The facts say that he had a clear state of mind and it seems all JJ did was her job. Scott was extremely appreciative for her easing his last dying days/months so he gave her something to express that appreciation. That’s not a crime, or undue influence. She wasn’t present in the will signing and there’s no factual evidence that she acted in bad faith with Buist to gang up on Scott. Unlike Strittmater, Scott was not crazy and delusional. However, I am basing my opinion namely that his mind was clear as a matter of fact, instead of a doctor’s opinion. If facts are as is, JJ should prevail on the will.

Randi Using Walkway to the Lake


Randi’s share would be the dominant tenement and that JJ’s share is the servient tenement. Neither owned the land beforehand. Randi will argue that she always used that pathway, so she should have an implied easement. That it was implied that since JJ got the lakefront house, the path that was always used will continue to be used. It is not necessary  to have the easement to survive unlike plumbing in Van Sandt. It would be very hard to prove this is an easement by necessity.

JJ’s arguments: We don’t need to look any further than the language of the will. The reason why I was given the lake front estate is because Randi doesn’t like the lake. Why would I assume, even if there was a path, that she would use it if she didn’t like the lake. The reasonable inference is that Scott liked the lake and therefore the path was for him. Not Randi.

Randi’s argument: This isn’t a burden that is beyond comprehension not withstanding what my father wrote in the will. B/c at one point in my life, my father says I didn’t like the lake, that doesn’t lead me to forever not like the lake. The pathway is already there, we’ve been using it forever, and we will continue to use it. Easement by implication. 1) parcel split in two 2) historical use. 

JJ: The intent of Scott that can be inferred from the will is that you don’t use the lake

Randi: Not necessarily. I never appreciated the lake could mean by using it for waterskiing or other water activities, but I loved eating picnics by the lake. Also he was referring to when I was growing up. But now I am an adult; of course I would want to water ski.

Conclusion: I think that Randi will prevail b/c #1- she  used the pathway. #2- it gave constructive notice to JJ to ask what its there for. #3- the intent of “Randi never really appreciated it” is not so black and white to be binding forever. #4- unlike often which didn’t look to the time of the split, at the time of the split, she was “always” using the path, or the path was “always” being used. 

Whether Andrea can rescind the contract?

The two cases and tests that we have to look at are Stamborsky and Johnson. Being that it spoke of sunny days as if they were not regular occurances, it looks like this is not in FL or CA and maybe it is the summer in NY. But I’ll apply both tests either way.

Under Stamborsky: 

1 – This defect certainly wasn’t made by the seller. Like the reputation of the ghosts were made by the seller in Stambovsky.

2 – Materially affect the contract: certainly all the noise would materially affect the contract. Andrea could think that she was buying property by a lake where she wouldn’t hear a peep or where she could lay out. Now there’s noise and no privacy. But if there’s only like 5-10 nice days all summer, then maybe it won’t materially affect the contract.

3 – Not known to buyer: apparently it’s not known to the buyer. However it looks like she should have known. Andrea should have asked if it was private or non-noisy outside by the lake. She could have asked people in the local coffee shop what’s the story with the lake. She could have run internet searches. Maybe there is a  waterski retail business by the lake where she could have found out about it.  If it is really called Lake-Make-A-Noise then that name should give enough notice that there is noise.

Under Johnson: This is different than in Johnson where they said they fixed the leak, when they didn’t (fraud).

1 – Known to seller, not so clear b/c she just received the property, and if she got it in the winter and this was the “first” sunny day of the year, how would she know. It hasn’t been sunny before for her to know.

2 – Materially affect K, like Stambovksy test.

3 – Not readily observable, two issues, 1) the lake, well it seemed quite visible and once it was seen, pretty reasonable to ask if people use it and how often. 2) doesn’t seem like Andrea is bothered by the easement, but that is likely to be visible too.  

4 – Not known to buyer, apparently it wasn’t. 

Marketable title: according to Lohmeyer, marketable title means no future litigation, or at least the probability/likelihood of no future litigation.  Randi said, “I’m challenging the will, so if you don’t have a lawyer, you better hunt one down”. That implies that there will be future litigation. Looks pretty definite.  Even Conklin says marketable title isn’t a 100% guarantee of no future litigation, just not probable. Well, Randi’s statements look pretty probable that there will be future litigation.

Conclusion:  I think that it is likely Andrea will be able to rescind the contract because it will probably be a material alteration, if many sunny days, and if she asked for marketable title, then according to Lohmeyer and Conklin, she didn’t get it. However, my conclusion could come out the opposite if 1) she didn’t ask for marketable title and wanted the property “as is” 2) there were only 5 nice days all summer (then it wouldn’t materially affect the contract). Otherwise she had to do a reasonable investigation which simply by the name revealed everything. Of course, if Caveat Emptor is applied, then JJ is under no duty to disclose anything and you buy the house as is. Andrea would not be allowed to rescind the contract.

Question 4X:  Comments:  This question included the very technical material on servitudes and recording acts as well as a nuisance issue that most students discussed that I really didn’t intend to test.  I tried to be a little bit generous with the grades to make up for the difficulty of the question. Major issues:
Enforceability of Vegan Servitude:  This was a timing problem like the one we saw in Cheatham:  an owner claiming through an earlier purchaser who agreed to the servitude (Greg/Opal) wants to enforce against an owner who is the successor to a later purchaser who did not agree to the servitude (Brian/Amanda).  For Greg to succeed, he’ll have to prove that there was a common scheme, that Brian had notice of the scheme, and that the agreement regarding meet and animal flesh touches and concerns the land.  There are serious arguments on each side of all of these issues. Common errors discussing the servitude included missing the timing problem, applying doctrine appropriate for homeowners’ associations (there’s no evidence there was an association); and assuming that Mary’s oral statements to Amanda would be binding on Brian without evidence that Amanda had agreed to them or that Brian had notice.

Enforceability of Negative Easement: If it is enforceable, G will have to trim to allow more sunlight onto B’s lot. G has three plausible arguments that it isn’t enforceable:


No Intent to Bind Successors:  O might have granted the easement with some time limit or express statement that it would expire if A no longer lived there.  This is not all that likely, but you don’t have the language of the easement to check. G could reasonably argue that the easement was designed solely to assist A with her personal sunbathing and A’s failure to record may show lack of intent. A number of you made these arguments in the context of discussing whether the easement was in gross or appurtenant.  As a technical matter, you cannot have a negative easement in gross, but I gave some credit for arguments that would apply to the question of time limits.  


Abandonment:  A court might find that it had been too long since anyone had attempted to enforce the easement.


Recording Act: The problem can be summarized as follows:



O(A



A (B



B records



O(G



G records 

In a race-notice jurisdiction, G has to have no notice and record first.  B’s recording doesn’t provide notice because it is a wild deed.  G has no way to connect it to his chain of title.  Untrimmed trees surely do not provide inquiry notice of a duty to trim the trees, so unless O told G of the easement he has no notice.  In addition, because B’s recording is wild, it doesn’t count as “duly recorded” since the chain of title is incomplete (this is the Zimmer Rule).  Note that there is no significance to O’s failure to record.  The seller has no duty to record and has nothing to gain by recording, so usually does not.


Common Errors included analyzing the problem as though it was a promissory servitude rather than an easement (agreement was to provide access for light, not merely to trim tree), discussing the scope of the easement (which G would have trouble contesting if the easement is enforceable; scope of negative easement always is to put nothing at all in the way). 

Trespassing Trees Issues:  Trimming and Adverse Possession

Whitesell Issue:  You could briefly note that different states have different rules about responsibility for encroaching trees.  Whitesell itself specifically says that shade is not the sort of damage that requires a remedy, although you could argue that is not the best rule.
Adverse Possession/ Border Dispute: Two issues I thought were interesting largely got ignored by the class.  First, what effect does the tree-trimming rule have on adverse possession? E.g., some jurisdictions that seem to behave as though even branches belong to the owner of the land directly underneath them, not necessarily to the trunk owner.  If so, there should be no adverse possession because the trunk owner doesn’t possess the branches over the line.  Second, as we discussed in class, whether to apply the tax payment requirement to border disputes is a hard policy question. (Note that when states require payment of taxes, they mean that the adverse possessor has to do it continuously through the adverse possession period; can’t pay retroactively at the time of suit).

Otherwise, the elements most worthy of discussion probably were: 


Actual:  Is mere growth of the trees a sufficient act of possession by the trunk owner?

Open & Notorious:  Should slow growth over the border count?  Note that the issue here was branches big enough to block sunlight (unlike the mangrove roots in the discussion problem).

Intent:  What state of mind is required?  What state of mind did G have?
Prescriptive Easement:  As a technical matter, I think prescriptive easement would be the wrong theory here. G claimed adverse possession and the trees were occupying space on B’s land, not using space otherwise occupied by B.  However, the notes after Whitesell suggest that under some theories of encroaching trees, the tree owners might make a prescriptive easement claim, so I rewarded students who made intelligent arguments under this approach. 

Other Frequently Raised Issues:



Grilling Meat as Nuisance:  The grilling takes place for a very short period of time, so probably is not enough to be a nuisance unless B does it regularly.   However, many of you discussed it at some length.  I gave points for good work on this issue, particularly if you noted the likely weaknesses of the claim (small interference with property rights; G may be oversensitive).



Trespass by G: When he “tore in” to B’s property, G trespassed without any defense we studied.  This is a small violation but was worth a point to mention.

Question 4X:  Student Answer #1:  This is a solid clearly-organized  answer, particularly strong on the servitudes issues (vegan servitude and negative easement): 

Negative Easement: jurisdiction is ok w/neg. easement so no prob w/case law. Brian will have some problems enforcing though.


Intent to bind (in gross eas.v. appurtenant eas.) The easement was created by Opal to keep the trees from blocking A’s sun for sun-bathing. For this to be enforceable it must be transferable to B.  The question is whether it was a personal easement to A or appurtenant to the land.



Easement in Gross: Greg can argue that easement is not enforceable b/c it was personal in nature to A and was not intended to be transferable. A specifically said she wanted the easement for her and for her sun-bathing enjoyment. She pursued a negative easement so she could sun-bathe and not be blocked by the trees. Thus is was created for her and expired upon her death.



Easement Appurtenant: B can argue that wait a minute! the easement is attached to some land, the trees. By definition and eas. app. is attached to some parcel of land or possessory interest in land. This neg. easement was attached to the right of O to do what he wanted w/the trees and thus to the land. Further, courts have a judicial preference for easements appurtenant & A was severely limited in bargaining power (layman to lawyer), so it should be construed as transferable. Also looking to the intent of A, she told B she was transferring an easement negative which shows she obviously did not think it was personal to her. 


Notice: The burdened property must have actual, inquiry, or constructive notice of the easement in order to bind Greg. However, we have a recording problem w/the easement. When the easement was created, Amanda never recorded the easement she received from O. But did G have notice that his lot was burdened? He does not have constructive unless seeing the line of trees might make him wonder if he was supposed to trim them.

Adverse possession: Note we are dealing with a boundary dispute where there is a tension b/w knowing your property & preventing self help and hostility b/w neighbors.


Taxes:  Without color of title G must pay taxes on the amount that he is claiming from the encroachment of trees. Does not say whether G actually did pay taxes on the land he is claiming.

Actual Use: Also does he actually use the trees in a way that is similar to possession? No indication that he waters them. He may claim for aesthetic purposes he uses them and so he is in actual possession.


Open & notorious: This element provides notice or knowledge to the owner that someone is actually using land. The tree itself is above land and visible. It would be hard for B to argue he did not see them, but he could argue that the trees encroached so slowly that they effectively were not visible to the layperson. Court is likely to view this as not knowing his boundaries and should keep a watchful eye over his land. The fact that he let the trees grow for 10 yrs. shows complacency. (more on this later).


Adverse & Hostile: The trees are adverse in themselves but G took no action to assert that he was acting adverse. Did he step across the boundaries to maintain his tree or did he just water them from his side of the land. However, B never acted hostile until it seems after the statutory time when he tried to cut the trees down.


Continuous: The point of this element is to put the owner on notice that there is possession and he should do something about it. Should B have to check every day to see of the trees started encroaching on his boundary? 


Exclusive: Depending on jurisdiction if owner set foot on area that was in dispute the exclusivity breaks. Did B ever step foot in the claimed zone? Was it enough to break the exclusivity? 


In sum: the outer branches crossed the line in 1987 to which the clock probably started ticking. If seems that the foliage and density of the tree is substantial enough so that B should have know that it was encroaching and done something about it. Also the fact this is a boundary dispute makes it more likely a court will want to punish B for not knowing his property lines yet be wary of the type of self help exhibited by B trying to cut down the trees. 

Equitable Servitude/Real Covenant


Intent to bind: was there a common scheme created? There were 36 one-acre parcels and T sold 25 w/the covenant which indicated he probably wanted a common scheme (see Sanborn). He also put an ad in the newspaper voicing his opinion to the world he was against meat eaters. This indicates he was not willing to tolerate a non-conformer in the community


Touch & Concern: Does the covenant affect the use of the land or--Bigelow-Clark--improve or deduct from the value of the property? The covenant forbids use of the land in that you cannot cook or eat meat on it. This is somewhat shaky in connection to the land and it also fails the Bigelow-Clark test. However it is arguable that there are plenty of meat eaters that would buy the property and now would not b/c of the restriction which may lower the value. This could by said to T and C the land but it is debatable whether it actually impairs a use of the land. You can still dispose, use, and possess.


Notice: For an equitable servitude did B have notice of the covenant? I think this is pretty obvious b/c he cooked the meat in spite of the covenant. He can argue he just thought that Greg was a vegetarian and not the whole community. But some courts may put him on inquiry notice since the covenant itself was recorded and also he might have heard the ads or read the newspaper about T’s intentions. 


Privity: There exists no privity here b/c B was a stranger to the original transaction. This is probably ok w/G b/c he more than likely wants an injunction against B rather than damages. 

Depending on how the jurisdiction treats notice there might be an enforceable equ. servitude.

Question 4X:  Student Answer #2:  This answer is solid throughout and particularly good on  adverse possession.

Brian suing Greg: Trespass:  Clear case for trespass b/c Greg “tore” into B’s yard to yell at him. (Damages?  But that is so torts, so moving on….

Brian suing Greg: Cherry Trees Crossing Line:


Trees alone – The trees are encroaching on Brian’s property so, depending on jurisdiction,  B can either cut the trees himself and then sue for reimbursement and any damages caused, or he can sue to have/make G cut the trees back (suit in equity).


There is a tricky issue here since B let this go so far. Part of the trunk is now on B’s land. Under Whitesell the trunk owner is the tree owner. This may mean that B is now a partial  owner of the tree and can just cut ½ the tree off. (maybe exposing himself to suit for damages by G though). Either way, his partial ownership, if recognized in juris, may alleviate some responsibility for G. (Ad poss. discussed later)

Tree as a violation of negative easement for light – There was a negative easement b/w the original owners of the land where G’s predecessor in title promised never to block sunlight on first 20 ft. of B’s land. The easement was valid and although Amanda never recorded it, she made a note in Brian’s deed that a neg. easement existed. There is a question of whether Greg should’ve been on notice about the easement. If so, B can sue him to enforce the neg. easement, assuming that B didn’t “abandon” the easement by not enforcing it for so many years. But abandonment is hard to prove (Barnes) so G would likely fail on that defense. Negative easements always run with land, so no question there.

Greg suing Brian: AP of the strip covered by cherry trees. Can G claim strip as his own?

Actual Use: Seems to be no question that G’s trees were actually using the strip. They were physically occupying it.

Obvious – Open/Notorious: Although the trees were visible – this prong is tricky – the trees were growing so rapidly that their progression across prop. line may not count as open-notorious. This is especially true if there are many other plants blocking (on B’s land) view of trees. This is like a border dispute and so for G to APossess B’s strip, some jurisdictions require actual knowledge of the encroachment. There appears to be no such knowledge here b/c when B did find out, he was pissed and took action right away. He did not know before. He had no “notice” if the trees were growing fast, depends on juris.

Exclusive: Unless B had his own plants among the trees or his dog “potty’d” there, chances are that this element is met b/c trees were occupying space and B and his property probably wasn’t using it at the same time.

Continuous: No issue – trees there the whole time, 10 yr requirement met.

Hostile/Adverse: there was no permission to use the land – but some jurisdictions presume permission if other elements are met. Because courts want to favor the “real” owner of the land and disfavor AP in some cases. However, some juris (MacDonald) presume adverse use in absence of evidence to contrary. Here, B’s failure to complain about trees and passive attitude may be considered “allowing” the encroachment but it depends on juris. 

Misc:  Some juris require a “bad faith” state of mind for AP in border encroachments. But no evidence here that G really meant to encroach. Furthermore, b/c G had no color of title and did not pay taxes on the land (strip) after 1st year, he will probably lose his AP claim, in this jurisdiction. G will likely fail.

There are competing policy interests here. Neighbors should not have to live in fear of losing land b/c of plant encroachments, but there is an incentive to have landowners reaffirm their boundaries every few years to prevent suits like this. Policy concerns like punishing sleeping owners and protecting physic connections are lacking here. 

Greg sues B for breach of equitable servitude: Greg is definitely bound to the “no meat” restriction b/c it is expressly in his deed passed down from Opal and it had the language – “heirs and assigns” indicating intent to bind future parties. This is a common scheme for the neighborhood.  B however has no mention of the “no meat” rule in his deed, but unlike express easements, servitudes may not require all deed formalities to be valid. B was told that his was a veg. area so, don’t use meat “in the house”. Is this binding on B so that G may sue?


Privity – not needed for injunction


Intent – seems to be intent that this should bind B b/c it is a common scheme and everyone was originally intended to be bound. Amanda told B specifically about “no meat”. This indicates restriction is binding, but why didn’t Amanda include this in the deed if it was such a big deal? A’s deed did not include the restriction b/c a different developer sold the house (Mary not Tony). So did Mary intend for people to abide that she sold to? There is no good evidence of such as intent b/c language lacking in deed. However, common scheme communities like this should put/did put B on notice and combined w/Mary’s recitation of “no meat” there seems to be an intent to bind everyone, including B.


T and concern: Does the restriction t & c the land; not really except for that the people cannot use meat “on the premises”. 


Even if A told him “no meat” in house, so B is bound to restriction, is he violating it? B is grilling outside; not in his house. Technically, he did not agree to no meat “on premises” and the neighbors complete lack of meat use would not put him on notice of this distinction. Although B definitely thought he was breaking deal, G has no claim if B was really still w/in the rules that he agreed to. If this distinction is important, B will likely defeat a suit for breach by G.

Greg sues B for private nuisance – G could sue B for loss of enjoyment of land b/c smells make him sick. But this seems unlikely to succeed b/c G could be considered overly sensitive to meat smells and the harm (loss of outdoor enjoyment, nausea) may not outweigh benefit (steak). However, some courts may look at this as a health issue b/c steak smell is making G get sick.

QUESTION 4Y:  Professor’s Comments:  Only 39 students selected this question.  Although more than enough for me to grade the question fairly, the low number suggests that I made he question a little harder than the others or at least that I shouldn’t put so much technical material into the last question.  I was relatively generous assigning scores to avoid punishing people unduly for choosing the question  That said, many students who chose the question didn’t write very much (the average number of checks was as low as I ever remember for a one-hour question) and made a lot of mistakes.  All else being equal, if you come the last question with insufficient time, it probably doesn’t make sense to choose a very fact heavy issue-spotting question to write.  Students who (at least as far as I could tell) chose to do Question III with limited time were a little more likely to do a reasonable job. The model answers are both fairly solid, but not as strong as the models for issue-spotters usually have been.
Analysis of C Stopping B from Using Pipes:  In the end, what made this problem particularly hard was that, to use the pipes to get water and waste between his own land and the outside world, B has to show he has the right to use both the East Quadrant and the North Quadrant.  To put it another way, if C prevails as to either East or North, she can enjoin B’s use of the pipes.  The rights across the East Quadrant depend on the express easement.  Since B never had an express easement across the North Quadrant, his rights there must depend on some kind of implied easement.  Many students did not differentiate between the two quadrants but I gave some credit for useful analysis of the right doctrine applied to the wrong place.
  

Pipes Across East Quadrant


Express Easement:  Recording & Notice:  The local recording act will determine whether C is bound by the easement.  The sequence of events was:



A (  B (easement over Equad)



A ( C (fee simple in Equad)



B records



C records

In a race or race-notice jurisdiction, B prevails because he recorded first.  In a notice jurisdiction, C will win if she had no notice at the time she purchased.  There was no record notice and there seems to have been no actual notice (she seems to have been made aware of the easement for the first time in 2007).  There was room for a nice discussion of whether she should have had inquiry notice from her own disposal system and the intersection with his. Two common errors: 

· You assess “notice” at the time of purchase, not at the time of recording.  Recording first does not constitute notice if it takes place after the other party has purchased  .  

· Recording is not necessary to create an easement.


Express Easement:  Scope:  Even if C is subject to the easement, she can enjoin B’s use of it for the apartment complex if a court determines that use is s outside the scope of the easement.  The use is literally within the terms of the easement (pipes are being used for water/sewage of “residents” of S-quad.)  However, there was room for some nice two-sided discussion of the “evolution/revolution” and “burden greater than contemplated” tests.  Note that, absent some increased threat of leaks or bursting, it is hard to see how C could be harmed by B increasing the amount of sewage traveling underground through the same pipes that were there at the outset. 


Implied Easements: There can be no easement-by-implication involving the pipes use through E-Quad because that use did not exist at the time the properties were split.  It seems unlikely that there would be an easement-by-necessity because the necessity for having the pipes, if any (see below) arose from the regulation forbidding use of septic tanks, which did not go into effect until 5 years after the split.  
Pipes Across North Quadrant


E-by-Necessity:  This turns on how strict the necessity test is and whether the facts meet it (are there other ways to get from S-Quad to public pipes; how expensive/difficult would it be to redo system).

E-by-Implication: At the time B sold N-Quad to A, the pipes across A were already in use for the benefit of the rest of B’s land.  A had notice of the pipes because she had been using them herself for the benefit of E-Quad and it seems likely that A & B would have intended the use to continue. There was room for some discussion of (i) whether the jurisdiction’s necessity requirement was met (similar to easement-by-necessity, but often less strict); and (ii) did C have sufficient notice (similar to inquiry notice issue above).  Some of you very cleverly noted that by the time C purchased N-Quad, a normal record search would probably reveal the prior easements and so provide notice at least of the existence of the pipes).

Common Problems re Analysis of Stopping Use of Pipes: 

An Express Easement is not a Promissory Servitude:  A significant number of students applied promissory servitude analysis to the express easement, even though I explicitly called it an “easement.”  The agreement creates a right for one party to use the land of another, making it an easement.  A promissory servitude is based in a promise by a landowner about the owner’s use of the owner’s land.  I gave some credit for discussions of intent and notice in the promissory servitude analysis that seemed relevant to the recording act & scope issues noted above.


Not Knowing the Elements of Implied Easements:  Many students made significant mistakes regarding these elements.  
In particular, easements by estoppel require detrimental reliance on permission from the owner to use the servient tenement.  Here, there is no evidence that C knew about the pipes, let alone provided express permission for B to use the pipes at the time B built the apartments.  As I noted in the comments on the scope problems we did in class, B’s reliance on the written easements goes to the scope of the easement but doesn’t create an easement by estoppel.  


Use of Pipes isn’t a Nuisance:  Any cause of action would be based in trespass, not nuisance.  C couldn’t claim that some use of B’s own land is harming her; she would claim that B isn’t authorized to send water & sewage through  her land.  Note that even if a court were inclined to allow both a trespass and nuisance action on these facts, if B has an easement to use her land that is a property right that would preclude a nuisance suit. 

Discussing Issues Outside Question Asked: There was no reason to discuss prescriptive easements because the instructions say to assess the situation as of May 2007, and not enough time passed to meet the statute of limitations.  And while it almost certainly is true that B would have to pay damages to C if the pipes burst, that issue is not responsive to my question, which was whether C can stop B from using the pipes.


Analysis of Water Run-Off:  According to the materials, American jurisdictions do not use nuisance law for this kind of problem.  Instead, states use three rules to deal with water run-off problems:  Common Enemy Rule (no liability)
; Civil Law Rule (strict liability); and Reasonable Use.  Although the materials contain little information about the content of the last test, I gave credit for sensible discussions of whether the run-off was reasonable.  Also, nothing in the materials suggests that compliance with zoning precludes a water run-off claim, although presumably a court might consider that compliance as part of a reasonable use test.


Quite a few students treated this as a lateral or subjacent support problem.  It probably isn’t; B really hasn’t removed support from beside or underneath C’s land.  Note that if a court views this as a subjacent support problem, generally B would only be liable if his actions would result in a collapse of the land in its natural condition.  In any event, you should at least begin your analysis with the cases/rules directly addressing water run-off.
QUESTION 4Y:  Student Answer #1:  This answer sees all the major issues and has some solid discussio, particularly of water runoff and scope of the easement.  It was one of the few answers to see that the rights over the north quadrant and over the east quadrant needed separate treatment.  However, there is no issue that is discussed in as much depth as you’d normally see in a model answer.
I.  Remedy for Runoff:  What Rule is in effect?

(A) Common enemy doctrine: Under this anyone can do what they can to deal with the water as it is a “common enemy”. Thus she would have no remedy short of arguing that what he did is the modern equivalent of collecting water and literally dumping it on your neighbors land. Otherwise this case is all but indistinguishable from Argeylen when the court found buildings and raising land resulting in run off created no liability. 

(B) Civil law doctrine: if this applies she would indeed get damages & possibly a mandamus in equity to fix the problem. Under Civil Law no alteration of actual water flow is allowed or you are liable.

(C) Reasonable use doctrine: this considers whether the alteration to water flow and the resulting effect are reasonable. Bob would argue it is reasonable as he was creating housing, a benefit to the area and simply complying with ordinances. Christina would argue he should have taken more steps to control the flow and that damage to her land combine to make it unreasonable (would have to know what extent of harm is done to her land → flooding? How often? How much does it rain there?). Rule is flexible and difficult to determine what the outcome would be.
(D) Lateral & Subjacent Support


(1) Subjacent Support:  Generally there is an absolute right to subjacent support. It can be waived unless a statute prohibits such waivers. Did she waive? Likely he would be liable for the damage if the pipes created the loss in subjacent support. [MAF:  True, but question says support problems come from run-off not pipes, so really not subjacent (literally “undermining”).]

(2) Lateral Support:  There is a right to lateral support for your land. She will argue his actions have damaged her lateral support. She can get damages for the land itself if it collapses and in a majority of jurisdictions (this one?) for the damage to structures on the land if the land could have supported the structure in its natural state. Further → check to see if there are any statutes requiring him to have provided increased lateral support for her when he did his building eg. NY → if he went below 6 feet.

II. Implied Easement: Does Bob have an implied easement across the North quadrant?
(A) Easement by Implication


(1) Reasonable discoverable at time of transfer to Christina. Bob will argue they were. (must know if there are any physical signs of this from the ground, however she should have know or inquired upon purchasing.) She will argue that it is completely useeable from the surface and could not discover it.


(2) Intended to be permanent?  Bob will argue that sewage and water are necessities and by their nature intended to be permanent.


(3) Reasonable Necessary for enjoyment and use? Bob will argue yes because otherwise no water or sewage. Her only real argument is that they were not discoverable.

(B) Easement by Necessity: Does Bob have and easement by necessity for the remaining stretch form East across North to the main system. Standard e.g. in Florida: necessity means absolute necessity not inconvenience and extreme financial hardship doesn’t apply, Dupont. She can argue he owns the W quadrant and can run the pipes across that as her parcel is not the last one to be sold that grants access if that is true. He would argue that hers is the last parcel and raise the rule that necessity is implied when the last parcel sold is the only route of access.

III. Express Easement:  
(A) Scope. Is the increased use within the scope of the original easement?

1) Express Language: Residents of the south may transfer across east. Bob: These apartments are all running only water and sewage as the plain language indicates is ok.


2) Evolutionary or Revolutionary Standard. Bob: The purpose of the easement is to run water and sewage and that is the same thing we are running now. Christina: The purpose says residents not residences. These are beyond the plain language and the vast increase in content amount is revolutionary because not contemplated.  Bob: It was contemplated that’s why I used large pipes.


3) No significant increased burden: Bob: Nothing has changed she has the same access to the pipes for water and waste. Christina: Evidence from workers shows the pipes could burst. This is beyond the original scope where the easement didn’t say water and sewage leaks in the ground creating a hazardous condition were allowed.

(B) Recording Issues:  Does the easement stand on its own?
Race or Race-Notice Jurisdiction:  Bob recorded first before Christina and this would mean Bob wins.

Notice: Christina bought the East quadrant before the easement was recorded and assuming she bought for fair value and BF she would win. [MAF: This ignores the possibility of inquiry notice.]
IV.  Zoning:  If zoning requires these houses be attached there are likely rules governing whether he is allowed to have pipes across neighbors land.

QUESTION 4Y:  Student Answer #2: This answer has nice discussions of inquiry notice, scope of the easement and necessity, but doesn’t see the distinction between the east and north quadrants.   
Easement by Necessity:  Bob may attempt to claim that he had an easement by necessity. In order to get an easement by necessity, after the splitting of the land, the easement must be necessary for the use of the land, such as being landlocked and needing a road to get out. Here, there is probably not an easement by necessity. Bob may still be able to use the septic tank and simply pay a small fine. [MAF:  I suspect a court would not require him to do something forbidden by the zoning.] Additionally, at the time of the severance, B owned both W and N, allowing him to put in more piping but still allow him to get around A/C’s lot without having to use an easement. However, Bob may have a valid claim for an easement by necessity. If instead of a small fine, the ordinance gave jail time or a very large fine, the need for pipes could be much greater. If the property in the W is not conductive to laying pipes, such as having a very rocky ground that is not diggable, B may have been forced to go through E. however, because of the time of severance B did not have to go through E and the very high burden that an implied easement by necessity requires, B will probably not be able to get an easement by necessity through A/C’s land.

Easement by Implication:  In order for there to be an easement by implication, there needs to be notice, prior use, intent to continue prior use, and reasonable necessity. The two issues here are whether C had notice and whether there is reasonable necessity. C did not have actual notice of the sewer pipes crossing her property, but she may have had inquiry notice. By nature, pipes are underground and thus not easily seen by the naked eye. However, pipes do occasionally have valves and different markings on the ground showing their location. If there were valves or markings on the southern part of C’s property, that may have given inquiry notice that pipes were running from B’s property over C’s property. However, simply by seeing pipe valves and markings, it does not prove that they came from B’s property. C may have thought that the pipes were her own and thus not had notice that B was using her land. At the time, B was not using the apartment complex so it is also unlikely that C would have notice because of leaks in pipes crossing her land. 
It is still unsure whether B has reasonable necessity to continue the use of the pipes. While the burden is much lighter than that of easement by necessity, there still needs to be a necessity. If B can access the city’s sewer system through W or if he can get by with paying a small fine and continuing the use of a large septic tank, there may not be sufficient necessity.
Express Easement:  
[Easement in Gross v. Appurtenant Done as Intent to Bind Successors] The language of the document states that the residents of each plot of land have the rights to use the other land. At the time of the creation, both B and A are shown to not have any other residents. This may show that there is intent to bind future parties. However, there is no language that looks to the future. It does not say residents and their heirs or future assignees. This may show that there is no intent to bind. However, because of the language of residents and the nature of the easement, pipes that are necessary for the easy use of the land, it is likely that the parties intended to bind the agreement to future parties and the land.

Notice:  While it was not recorded before C purchased the property, it was recorded before C. If it is a Race jurisdiction, C loses. If it is a notice jurisdiction, C was a BFP and thus did not have notice of the pipes unless there was inquiry notice.  See section in easement by implication. Also, did C know that B was her next door neighbor. Would it have been reasonable to talk to him about their future relationship? It is possible that he may have mentioned his easement with her property if they had been able to talk before the property was purchased. However, this is a weak argument. People do not often talk about sewer pipes when meeting about becoming next door neighbors. Was it reasonable for C to have asked A about it? Especially if C had found any pipe markings or knew of the plans of the diamond shaped lot. If C had known of the plans and of the city ordinance, it may have been reasonable inquiry notice that the pipes would have had to have gone through her land in order to be used properly.
Scope of the Easement:  In order to determine the scope of an easement, one needs to look at the plain language of the document, whether the change in the easement is evolutionary and not revolutionary and whether the burden is not significantly increased.

· The plain language of the document states that residents of the South quadrant to pipe water and sewage across the east quadrant. There is no mention as to the amount of sewage, no mention as to the size of the pipes and no mention as to whether the pipe from the South could continue across the northern property. The intent of the writers was probably that both parties would be able to use the pipes to comply with the city ordinance.

· Evolutionary vs. Revolutionary:  B may try and argue that this is evolutionary use as opposed to revolutionary use. Its natural to believe that levels of sewage and water will change as time goes on. The area is still residential and it is still water and sewage that is going through the pipes. It isn’t as if there is a new material. This is nothing more than an evolutionary change. C may argue correctly that this is revolutionary. One is going from a small cottage that probably has a very small amount of sewage use to an apartment complex that is using 60 times as much sewage as Bob may have used. There is also no evidence that Bob even lived in the cottage. People often have cottages as vacation homes so Bob may have only stayed there a few months out of the year. Now people are living in the apartment complex full time and using water and sewage much more.

· Increased Burden:  Bob may try and argue that the burden is still the same. The pipes are underground and would have been there regardless as to whether it was only his small cottage there or not. However, C may be able to successfully argue that B’s easement is beyond the scope of the original easement. If there was only a small cottage that was used a couple of times a year, leaks would be few and far between and would not cause that much of a problem. One person’s sewage leak is much easier to clean up. Now, you have 60 people using this sewage system. Leaks may be happening a lot more often because of the increased use. Bob may argue that how often does a pipe actually leak but C’s engineers testify that the pipes are straining to contain the load. If there are leaks happening, the forcefulness of the leak is much greater, causing much more damage if and when it does happen. Therefore, because the burden is much greater and the scope of the easement is revolutionary and not evolutionary, B is in violation of the easement and C may be able to get rid of his pipes or force him to purchase a new easement from her.

Responsibility for the water:  Depending on the jurisdiction, B may be liable for the water he is forcing onto C’s land or C may be forced to protect herself. If it is a common enemy doctrine jurisdiction, C may have to protect herself. She may have to build drains that push the water away from her or construct some sort of barrier to prevent water from flooding her land. The rationale is that water is dangerous to everyone. If it is reasonable use doctrine, the court may look to see whether B is making reasonable use in regards to water. Is it necessary for B to have paved all of his land? Did he install adequate drains? Is it possible for him to empty the water into some other area? If so, the court may hold B liable for this.
� You can usefully apply a dissent on an exam in the following situations:





(a) A question tells you to apply the dissent’s rule





(b) An issue-spotting question does not tell you what rule applies.  You then can say, “If the state follows the Poletown majority … But if the state applies the rule proposed by the Poletown dissent ….”





(c) An opinion/dissent question asks to decide which rule ought to apply to an issue discussed by a dissenting opinion we’ve read.  Your “majority” opinion can adopt the position of the earlier dissent.





� This sentence can be replaced with a shorter heading.





� Generally better to save your conclusion until after you’ve done analysis.





� Clever point re saving Einstein.  





� Always useful to discuss parallel to facts of case.  Here, might be more explicit about what those facts suggest about meaning of primary beneficiary.





� Good idea suggesting that the benefit to public is greater, the more eminent domain is necessary to achieve goals.  Although answer raises good points about the extent of the benefit on each side, needs to be more explicit about how to decide which benefits are “primary.”





� Careful with terminology; test examines “public benefit” not “public use.”





� Good detailing significance of ivy, but helpful to keep discussion focused on terms of the test: although you student terms “significant” and “clear,” the issue is not whether the “public concern” is significant, but whether the benefits from the ivy are “significant.”





� Good point re statistical effectiveness, but helpful to elaborate more. Might specify ways in which this might change result (few people helped; few types of cancer cured, etc.) 





� Student suggests parallel to GM and jobs; helpful to make it explicit:  “As in Poletown itself, the state anticipates a great benefit to society here …”





� Need to focus more tightly on test in this analysis.  Test asks you to compare the benefit to the public with the benefit to the private company.  Student doesn’t do that explicitly.  Also might push harder to find counterarguments.





� Nice point that the public benefit can’t be achieved w/o private profit.





�  At this point, student could usefully discuss whether a lone man jogging on land suggests that he has an ownership interest.





� Student needs to be clear here that if seeing jogger is inquiry notice, C has to inquire of B (not A) to satisfy her inquiry requirement. This would be a better argument if C had asked a neighbor who B was and the neighbor had said, “A’s trainer.”





� This is a nice policy point that could be clarified more:  because it would be so easy for C to inquire of B under these circumstances, not unreasonable to put burden on her to do so.


 


�  This sentence can easily be replaced with the heading:  “record notice”





� “Under the majority test and certainly under the minority test….” is not specific enough.  Helpful to explain briefly: (a) test for what? (b) what the tests are (c) why this fails them.





�   Very good seeing that it depends on what C is told and going through both possibilities.  A similar analysis applies regarding what name A used to sign paperwork.  Student could be more specific as to consequences:  If C can find the A(B deed, she has record notice of B’s interest; no need to rely on “fishiness” of lack of prior grant.





� Starting with conclusion is not best use of time.  Also, probably worthwhile to do types of jurisdictions separately to emphasize that the name change has two consequences:  arguably not record notice and arguably not properly recorded.





� Good giving policy behind operation of rule.





� Room to discuss in more detail arguments about whether we should hold title-holders to notice of famous marriages.





� Room for discussion here about whether a stray jogger would make a reasonable person think the jogger might own the property.





� Again, if seeing B jogging is inquiry notice of B’s claim, she has to inquire of B (not A) to satisfy her inquiry requirement, because A has incentive to lie.





� Good seeing Zimmer Rule issue.  Helpful to elaborate a bit more how and why it will operate here.  (E.g., it’s a rule for race-notice states)





� Can replace this sentence with a heading.





� Useful to clarify how adverse possession issue arises.





� Good beginning with statute of limitations.  Again, this sentence could be replaced with a subheading.





� Helpful to start with legal test before listing facts.





� Nice points re C’s use of land.  Room for more discussion of whether Linck test is met. Might note that under other tests (Fl. statute; Van Valk.) C does less well than under Linck.





� Misconstrues test.  Focus is whether the activity could be seen by somebody who was on the property (objective) , not whether B did or could have seen them given his minimal use (subjective).  E.g., if his jogging trail didn’t run by a cottage she had built, he wouldn’t see it, but still O&N.





� Good seeing relevant test and citing to Kunto.  Again, need to discuss in more depth whether test was met.





� Good seeing Penn statute issue.  Room to argue in depth whether B’s return is sufficient to break exclusivity.





� This is fine for this straightforward element.





� Good on color of title and consequences except that, while color of title does lower actual requirement, relevance of her understanding about what she had to do is not clear.  





� Intro paragraph not best use of time.  1st sentence can be replaced by a heading.  Rather than listing elements at outset, raise them one by one as you discuss them. Save time by using names of individual elements as subheadings.





�  No points for stating your conclusions (either on the whole issue or on individual elements) before you have done any analysis.





� Room to discuss more whether  this is the way a normal owner would use it.





� This is fine for this small issue.





� This is a nice discussion of actual; good use of facts and comparison to cases.  Might push harder on her best argument, which is that this may be normal use of nature preserve type property.





� Good point re open & notorious, although if a court decided that the actual & continuous requirements are met, it might hold that the uses she made were all visible to someone on surface because they all involved her physical presence on the land.





�  Need to be aware that if statute 7 years or less, she might have adversely possessed before he re-entered. Also helpful to discuss somewhere that if  statute is greater than 13 years, C loses (e.g., Penn: 21).





� Some good points in discussion of exclusive (comparison to 3 weeks; Penn statute).  Could discuss more whether jogging should count as an assertion of ownership.  It is a smaller act in some ways than the building materials (not constant presence) and it is the sort of thing that trespassers do all the time.





�  Long concluding sentence repeating points already made is not best use of time.





�  One argument independent of the quadrant is that C can probably enjoin use of the pipes if they are inconsistent with local zoning or building codes.  You don’t have enough information to discuss this at length, but it is worth mentioning briefly.





�  For some reason, many students referred to this as the majority rule, but the casebook makes clear only a couple of states still use it.





